# Instruction Manual for The Traditional Ballad Index and the Roud Song and Broadside Indices

Version 6.0

Robert B. Waltz

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction to the Traditional Ballad Index	3
Running the Traditional Ballad Index	4
Logging in to the Index	4
Finding Things in the Index	9
The "Find Anywhere" Command	17
The "Find by Field" Command	18
Quick Find	23
The Roud Folk Song Index	25
Using the Roud Broadside and Folk Song Indices together	31
Using the Roud Index with the Ballad Index	37
The Supplemental Tradition	41
The Ballad Index Bibliography/Reference List	45
Advanced Searching	56
FileMaker Wildcard Examples	57
Information Found in the Ballad Index	59
Information Found in Steve Roud's Folk Song Index and Broadside Index	62
Appendix: Installation Instructions	64
Installing the Traditional Ballad Index on the iPhone and iPad	64
Running the Index on the iPad	71
Running the Index on the iPhone	74
Installing the Traditional Ballad Index on the Macintosh	77
Running the Index on the Macintosh	77
Installing the Traditional Ballad Index on Windows Computers	78
Running the Index on the PC	79
Accessibility Issues	80
Appendix: Known Bugs	81

## Introduction to the Traditional Ballad Index

Welcome fellow traditional music fan!

If you're reading this, chances are that you are trying to use the Traditional Ballad Index to help you research folk songs. This manual will try to help you understand how to get the most out of the Traditional Ballad Index.

The Traditional Ballad Index is a catalog of information about traditional folk songs, including descriptions, bibliographic data, and historical and geographical background. It is designed to facilitate searching, including complex searches based on multiple criteria. A button-driven interface allows you to quickly switch between modes; you should not need to use the menus in any way.

Before you start, be sure you have the Ballad Index correctly installed on your computer — Windows PC, Macintosh, iPhone, or iPad. See the Installation Instructions for information on how to install the software on a particular platform and launch the Index on that platform.

The Ballad Index will behave in almost exactly the same way on PC, Macintosh, or iPad, but the appearance of the screens will be slightly different (on the iPhone, you can use either a limited mode with easier-to-read text or a more powerful mode with very small text). Most of the screen shots in this document are from the Macintosh version, so don't be too worried if things look a little different.

We have tried to make the Ballad Index as easy to use as possible. If you're the sort of person who likes to know what is going on "inside" the Index, it is a FileMaker database with six parts: the Traditional Ballad Index itself (song background and bibliography), the Supplemental Tradition (a selection of song texts keyed to the Traditional Ballad Index), a runtime version of Steve Roud's Folk Song Index (linked to the Ballad Index by Roud's song numbers), a runtime of the Roud Broadside Index (also linked via Roud Numbers), and bibliographies of books used in the Roud Index and the Ballad Index. To understand how these parts inter-relate, keep in mind that, in the Ballad Index, the basic unit of a record is the *song;* in the Roud Indices, the basic unit is a particular *version* or *collection*.

If that's too technical, think of the Ballad Index as a book with a "page" for each song, giving a description of the song, information about where it has been collected, and so forth. Each "page" of the Roud Index is a description of a particular song version.

Think of the Index as having three "modes": There is the search mode (there are several of these, but the main point is that you're looking for something). There is the list mode, which shows you many songs at once — either to pick one out for more detailed examination or to get a general overview of the songs you have searched out. And there is the detailed mode, which lets you see all, or almost all, the information about a particular song. Buttons allow you to switch between modes.

The next section tells you how to use the Index once you have started it.

# **Running the Traditional Ballad Index**

### Logging in to the Index

When you start the Index, you will be shown a login screen, the appearance of which varies from version to version:

	Open "BalladInd	ex" using:
$\bigotimes$		<ul> <li>Guest Account</li> <li>Account Name and Password</li> </ul>
	Account Name: Password:	Your Name Here
	Change Passwo	Remember this password in my keychain      Ord      Cancel      OK

If you just want to use the Index, you should log in with the guest account. This will let you search and see all data in the Index; it merely prevents you from *changing* the data. You don't need a password for guest access.

If for some reason you are determined to try to fiddle with the data in the Index, you can log in as "admin" using the password "TdBdx." But, really, we mean it, it's better to log in as a guest; if you log in as admin, you just might damage the database. *We cannot fix bugs on a modified database. Once you start changing it, you are stuck with that version.* 

Once you have started the Index, you will see an overview screen, explaining a little about the Index. The PC version is below:

🛛 Balladindex	- L X
<u>File Edit View Insert Format Records Scripts Tools Window H</u> eip	
$\langle \rangle$ $\geq$ 26834 $\bigcirc$ 26841 $\square$	^ ^
Records Show All New Record Delete Record Find Sort	Share 🗸
Layout: Startup Screen View As: Preview Script paused Continue	Ca <u>n</u> cel Aa Edit Layout
The Traditional Ballad Index version 5.3α build 10.25.2020	and
The Folk Song Index and Broadside Index by Steve Roud version 1	18 (2020)
The Traditional Ballad Index copyright ©2020 by Robert B. Waltz and David G. E	ngle.
Steve Roud's Folk Song Index and Broadside Index copyright ©2020 by Steve Roud. All ri	ghts reserved.
information about these songs.	search for, display, and print
The Ballad Index is primarily a bibliography, consisting of a list of references containing copies of songs. But it also c	ontains some information
about the songs — a brief description of the plot, information about the author, historical background information (we the best historical reference in existence for English-language folksongs), and other material.	believe that, overall, this is
Some of the more important "fields" of the Ballad Index database include the following:	
Ballad Title: The standard title we use for the ballad. This is the official designation of the song.	
Author (if known to us; most songs in the Index are listed as having an "unknown" author)	
<b>Earliest date:</b> The earliest date at which we could guarantee that the ballad was in circulation <b>Keywords:</b> A list of code words designed to facilitate searching.	
Historical References: This lists the dates on which events in the song took place.	
References: The list of books containing the song.	
<b>Cross References:</b> Songs which bear some limited relationship to the song.	
Same Tune: A list of songs, parodies, broadsides which use the same melody as current song.	
Notes: Anything not covered under the previous categories.	
<b>Roud Number:</b> The number assigned to this song in Steve Roud's folk song index. For more information, see the fuller descriptions in the HTML documentation or the Ballad Index installation manual.	
Please note: You should not need to use the menus in this program. Use the buttons to navigate the Index.	
Click on one	
of the buttons Reference About Search Tips Keyword	
Show Boud Folk	Go to
Song List	Index
Show Roud Find Help Quit Rescue Me!	
Broadside List	

On the Mac, this becomes:



The iPad is mostly similar except for the borders of the screen.

We'll be using mostly Macintosh screen shots from now on, but we'll leave off the frame of the screen — you won't ever need to use the menus. Everything you need to do in the Index is driven by buttons:





The array of buttons at the bottom allow you to operate the Index. Note in particular the four highlighted buttons with purple text — Find by Field, Quit, Help, and Rescue Me! These are the "Standard Buttons," which will usually be laid out in either a row or a rectangular array. (The Roud Index is a little different; we'll get to that.)

The Standard Buttons appear on almost every page of the Index. "Find by Field" lets you search the Ballad Index (see the next section). "Quit" gets you out of the Index (exception: on the iPhone and iPad, "Quit" will close the Index but leave you still in FileMaker Go). "Help" Gets you to the "Help" screen. And "Rescue Me!" will take you to the main Ballad Index display page (more on this below also).

On this startup screen, in addition to the Standard Buttons (again, the ones with the purple text), you also see an "About" button (for the terms and conditions of using the Index), some other informational buttons,

"Search Tips" (help with searching), buttons to open the two Roud Indices, and "Go to Index." The latter button will take you to the first song in the Index (which happens to be "Brave Wolfe") and give you a lot more choices for searching. On a Macintosh, that screen looks like this:

Brave Wolfe [Laws A1]	Font Size: 11
NAME: Brave Wolfe [Laws A1] DESCRIPTION: Disappointed in love, Wolfe gives his beloved a ring and leaves her. He lands at Quebec to battle the French. Wolfe is mortally wounded, but when he learns that a British victory is assured, he says, "I die with pleasure."	Quick Find
AUTHOR: unknown EARLIEST DATE: 1759 (broadside) KEYWORDS: death war courting battle separation Canada	Find by Field
HISTORICAL REFERENCES: 1727-1759 - Life of General James Wolfe, British commander at the Battle of Quebec 1754-1763 - French and Indian War (in Europe, the Seven Years' War, fought 1756-1763)	Find Anywhere (slow)
Sept 13, 1759 - Battle of Quebec. <u>Wolfe</u> and <u>Montcalm</u> killed. <b>REFERENCES</b> (25 citations): Laws A1, "Brave Wolfe"	Search Songs
Randolph 664, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Flanders/Qiney, pp. 120-122, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Flanders/Brown, pp. 55-57, "Brave Wolfe/General Wolfe" (2 texts, 1 tune; the first text is in half-stanzas and does not use the "Blacksmith" tune: the second is the Grane Mountain Secondar version)	Print
ThompsonNewYork, pp. 323-324, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) Leach, pp. 716-719, "Brave Wolfe" (2 texts)	Сору
Friedman, p. 288, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) Greenleat/Mansfield 44, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Peacock, pp. 986-987, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	This song has associated text(s)
Fowke/Johnston, pp. 21-23, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Fowke/MacMillan 2, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Fowke/Mills/Blume, pp. 46-49, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Mackenzie 75, "Courses" (1 text)	Show Song Text
Warner 21, "The Ballad of Monicalm and Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Warner-Eastern, pp. 63-64, "The Ballad of Monicalm and Wolfe" (1 text) Scott-BoA, pp. 36-38, "The Death of General Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	
Lomax-FSNA 16, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) DallasCruel, pp. 123-124, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	Show Song List
Darling-NAS, pp. 16-157, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) cf. Gardner/Chickering, p. 478, "Brave Wolfe" (source notes only) DT 358, BRAYWOLF BRVEWLF2*	Show Roud Folk Song List
ST LA01 (Full) Houd #961 [59 Roud entries] RECORDINGS (Total of 1): Freeman Bennett. "Bold Wolfe" (on PeacockCDROM) [one verse only]	Show Roud Broadside List
BROADSIDES: LOCSinging, as111310, "General Wolfe" ("Cheer up your hearts, young men, let nothing fright you"), Leonard Deming (Boston), 19C; also as102840, "The Death of General Wolf"	Find by Field
CHOSS-HEFERENCES: cf. "The Blacksmith" (tune & meter) cf. "The Dark-Eyed Sailor (Fair Phoebe and her Dark-Eyed Sailor)" [Laws N35] (tune) cf. "General Wolfe" (subject)	Quit Help
cf. "How Stands the Glass Around (General Wolfe's Song)" (attributed to Wolfe) SAME TUNE: The Blacksmith (File: K146)	Rescue Me!
NOTES: [3402 words] When William Pitt the Elder came became Britain's Prime Minister in 1757 (the first man ever to hold that title, which was coined because there was no real cabinet role for him otherwise), he decided that the army newly involved in the Seven Years' War (known in the American colonies as the French and Indian War) needed a good dose of youthful energy. In 1755-1756, British	Ballad Index Reference List

We'll go over all these buttons in detail, but let's start at the top. Right now, you're seeing the entry for "Brave Wolfe" — or, at least, the top of it; some of it scrolls off the screen. You can use the scroll bars to see the rest. You can also set the display size. At the upper right is the "Font Size" pulldown. If the text of the display is too large or too small for you, You can use that pulldown to set the size of the text. And, once you've done that, you're ready to start looking for songs!

#### Finding Things in the Index

Suppose you want to find a song. Let's say "Where the Gadie Rins." Click the "Find by Field" button. This will take you to the "Find by Field" page:

Name		
Description		
Keywords	٩	Keyword
Roud #		List
Author	Q Earliest Date	Found In
Found In	Q	List
Historical References	۹	BLUE BACKGROUNDS
References	٩	are fastest
Recordings	۹	Abort Find
Broadsides	٩	Find by Field
Alternate Titles	Q.	Quit Help
SameTune	Q	Rescue Me!
Notes	۹	(Slow!) Find Anywhere
Bibliography	Q.	
Refe	Last Updated in v:     Q       Search cross references as well as main entries?     N	Search

Click in the blue area labelled "Ballad Name" and type "Gadie Rins" — (if you're on an iPad or other machine that makes spelling suggestions, be sure *not* to let the iPad change that to "Gadie Runs" or "Gradient Runs" or whatever it suggests). This will find at least three records. A list will appear showing these records:

3 records	SONG				Click for DESCRIPTION	Click for REFERENCES	Click for ROUD REFS	Click for NOTES
Show	Wish I Were Where	Gadie Rins (version of Where	the Gadie	Rins (I), (II)	,			
Show	Where the Gadie Rin	s (I)			Descrip	4 Refs	Roud # 5404	Notes
Show	Where the Gadie Rin	s (II)			Descrip	1 Refs	Roud # 5404	Notes
To look	c at a song, tap it then		Sort by	Cost by	Southy	lak Finder		
tap the	Show Details button	Show Details	Sort by Name	Sort by Roud # P	Sort by Qu Popularity Fi	nd Find by Field	Quit Help	Rescue Me!

The list is alphabetical (you can use the "Sort by Roud #" and "Sort by Popularity" buttons to bring all versions of the same Roud number together, or to look at which of these songs are most and least popular). Note that the song titles appear in two different formats. The first song, "I Wish I Were Where the Gadie Rins," is in *Magenta Italic*. That means that it is a cross-reference. It even tells you what it is a cross-reference *to*, as far as it fits; in this case, *Where the Gadie [Rins (I)]*.

The other two entries, "Where the Gadie Rins (I)" and "Where the Gadie Rins (II)," are actual songs with entries in the Ballad Index. You know this because the names are in **bold red type**. Also, the list tells you how many bibliographic references we have for each song — four for "Where the Gadie Rins (I)," just one for "Where the Gadie Rins (II)."

If all you want to do is check the song's description to see if it's the right one, you can click on the "Descrip" button. This will pop up a description of the song and some other details:

3 SONG records TITLE	Click for NOTES
Show I Wish I Were Where Gadie Rins (version of Whe	ere the Gadie Rins (I), (II),
Show Where the Gadie Rins (I)	Descrip 4 Refs Roud # 5404 Notes
Show Where the Gadie Rins (II)	Description for Where the Gadie Rins (I) Notes
	Description: REFERENCES
	The singer wishes she were "Where the Gadie rins." She recalls her (ane/twa) richt love(s). "The ane he was killed at the Lowrin fair, and t'ither wis drowned in Dee." She has twice been a bride but never a wife. She recalls her mourning
	Author:
	unknown
	Earliest Date:
	1908 (Greig)
	Keywords: love marriage death wife mourning
	Found In: Britain(Scotland(Aber))
	Last updated in version: 3.2     Show Full       Notes Length:     3043 bytes   Close
To look at a song, tap it then tap the Show Details button > Show Details	Sort by Name     Sort by Roud #     Sort by Popularity     Quick Find     Find by Field     Quit     Help     Rescue Me!

Similarly, you can click the button that lists the number of references to see the first few references for the song, the Notes button to see the notes (the Notes button tries to give you a clue as to whether the Notes are extensive: if the word "Notes" is in regular type, then the notes are less than 250 words; if "Notes" is in bold, they are more than 250 words; if "Notes" is in blue, then the notes are more than 1000 words) and the the Roud # button to see Roud references:



Suppose you want to see a song in more detail. To do so, you select it by clicking or tapping on it. The black bar at the left edge tells you that you have it selected (in this case, the selected song is "Where the Gadie Rins (I)").

	3 SONG records TITLE				Click for DESCRIPTION	Click for REFERENCES	Click for ROUD REFS	Click for NOTES
ľ	Show   Wish   Were Where G	adie Rins (version of Where	the Gadie I	Rins (I), (II),				s Securit Control Control
	Show Where the Gadie Rins	(I) The black bar sh	ows that		Descrip	4 Refs	Roud # 5404	Notes
Ī	Show Where the Gadie Rins	(II) this is the selected	d song		Descrip	1 Refs	Roud # 5404	Notes
	To look at a song tap it then							
	tap the Show Details button	Show Details	Sort by Name	Sort by Roud # P	Sort by Qu opularity Fi	ick Find by Ind Field	Quit Help	Rescue Me!

Having selected the song, click the "Show Details" button to "zoom in":

Where the Gadie Rins (I)	Font Size: 11
NAME: Where the Gadie Rins (I) DESCRIPTION: The singer wishes she were "Where the Gadie rins." She recalls her (ane/twa) richt love(s). "The ane he was killed at the Lowrin fair, and tither wis drowned in Dee." She has twice been a bride but never a wife. She recalls her mourning	Quick Find
AUTHOR: unknown EARLIEST DATE: 1908 (Greig) KEYWORDS: love marriage death wife mourning EQUIND W: Briteir (Sordand (Abort))	Find by Field
Greig #10, pp. 1-2, "Where Gadie Rins" (3 texts plus 2 fragments) Greig Duncane 1223, "Gin I Were Where the Gadie Rins" (6 texts, 1 tune)	Find Anywhere (slow)
Ord, pp. 347-348, "Oh! Gin I Were Where Gaudie Rins" (1 text, 1 tune) ADDITIONAL: Kenneth Norman MacDonald, "The Gesto Collection of Highland Music," 1895 (reprinted 1997 by Llanerch Publishers), p. 125, "The Back of Bennichie" (1 tune, presumably this since it is footnoted as "Where Gaudie runs") ST Orda77 (Full)	Search Songs
Roud #5404 [30 Roud entries] CROSS-REFERENCES: cf "Where the Gadie Bins" (II) etc. (tune, chorus)	Print
ALTERNATE TITLES: Where the Gaudie Rins NOTES: (50) words The melody "Where (the) Gadie Rins" is said to be a common pine tune in Scotland (MacColl and Seeger date it to	Сору
1815; Ord suspects the eighteenth century.) Like some other pipe tunes (e.g. "The Flowers of the Forest), it seems to have picked up various texts. One may suspect that, like some fiddle tunes, it had a mnemonic verse or two. All the texts seem to have a lyric similar to:	This song has associated text(s)
Oh, gin I were whaur the <u>Gadie rins</u> . The <u>Gadie rins</u> , the <u>Gadie rins</u> . Oh, gin I were whaur the <u>Gadie rins</u> At the back o Bennachie	Show Song Text
or But there's meal and there's ale <u>whaur</u> the <u>Gadie rins</u> , The <u>Gadie rins</u> , the <u>Gadie rins</u> ,	
But there's meal and there's are what the Gade rins At the back o Bennachie. Ord calls the air "one of the best-known songs in the North of Scotland," but says that most people know only fragments of verses. This text are to ride of place as the only one "we heard recorded.	Show Song List
The "Lowrin fair" or "Lowren' fair" is described by Kinloch as "a market held at Lawrence-kirk, in Mearnshire." This has one of the saddest themes I can think of for a woman prior to the twentieth century, when it was hard to accomplish anything when unmarried:	Show Roud Folk
Noo it's twice I hae been a bride, Hae been a bride, hae been a bride, Noo it's twice I hae been a bride, But a wife I'll never be.	Show Roud Broadside List
Carnis hep but note the similarity of this to a couplet composed by margaret of Austra to famelit her fate. Ci gist Margot Ia gentille demoiselle Mariee deux fois, et si mourut pucelle. ("Here lies Margot, the willing bride, Twice married, but a virgin when she died." See Garrett Mattingly, Catherine of Aragon, 1941 [I use	Find by Field
the 1990 Book-of-the-Month club edition], p. 17) <u>HBW</u> Of the five Greig #10 texts he considers only a fragment and one long text known to the traditional singer, "perhaps assigned to about the middle of the eighteenth century may be earlier." The others are literary texts. An attribution of one to Dr Arthur Johnston in the earlier part of the seventeenth century "must surely be a mistake." Another "was written by Dr John Park about 1826" "John Imlah, a song-writer of considerable repute who was born in Aberdeen in 1799 and died in 1846 wrote two versions, " the second of which Greig reprints. As for the origin of the fragment the usual first verse "our theory is this. Some native of the <u>Garloch</u> serving in some of the continental wars say under <u>Marborough</u> , had heard the regimental march, and ever thinking of his far-off home, had shaped its phrases into of b on I were where Garlor mark of Benarchie".	Quit Help Rescue Me! Ballad Index
Imlah, writing in 1827, in a note to his own "O' Gin I Were Whare Gade Howes!," has the usual chorus and says it is the chorus of "a jacobite ditty, but of which I am in no further possession than the chorus" (source: John Imlah, May Flowers (London, 1827 ("Digitized by Google")), p. 230).	Reference List

Observe that some entries are longer than one screen. You'll know you're at the end if you see a "File Number" item, as in this screen for "Flodden Field":

Flodden Field [Child 168]	Font Size: 11
NAME: Flodden Field [Child 168] DESCRIPTION: King James vows to fight his way to London. Queen Margaret tries to prevent him, and Lord Thomas Howard supports her. James vows to punish them when he returns but he never returns; the English slay him and twelve thousand men at Flodden	Quick Find
EARLIEST DATE: c. 1597 (see NOTES); the text in Child's Appendix is from the Percy Folio and elsewhere KEYWORDS: war royalty family promise death EQUIDIN: Britain	Find by Field
HISTORICAL REFERENCES: Sep 9, 1513 - Battle of Flodden. James IV and the pride of Scotland's chivalry die in battle with the Earl of Surrey's English army REFERENCES (8 citations):	Find Anywhere (slow)
Child 168, "Flodden Field" (1 text plus long appendix) Ritson-Ancient, pp. 208-212, "Floddon Field" (1 text) ADDITIONAL: Michael Brander, Scottish and Border Battles and Ballads, 1975 (page references to the 1993 Barnes & Noble edition), pp.	Search Songs
67-68, "Flodden Field" (1 text) APPENDIX: "Now Let Us Talk of Mount of Flodden" Digital Index of Middle English Verse #3779 MANUSCENET: USBergrue Faile The Bergy Folio London British Library MS, Additional 27879, page 117	Print
MANUSCRIPT: London, British Library, MS. Harley 293, folio 55 MANUSCRIPT: London, British Library, MS. Harley 293, folio 55 MANUSCRIPT: London, British Library, MS. Harley 367, folio 120 Boud #2862 (4 Boud entries)	Сору
<ul> <li>CROSS-REFERENCES:</li> <li>cf. "The Flowers o' the Forest" (subject)</li> <li>NOTES: [424 words] Child's only text of this is from Thomas Deloney's <i>Pleasant History of John Winchcomb</i> (the other versions, including the Percy Folio version, are of the appendix text). Ritson credits the piece to Deloney (1543?-1600?). E. K. Chambers, <i>English Literature at the Close of the Middle Apps</i>. Oxford 1945 1947, observes that Deloney may well have printed the text with some</li> </ul>	[]
"improvements." It would be very interesting to know what was Deloney's source it might well have been nearly contemporary with the actual battle of Flodden. King James IV was unusually long-lived for a Stewart king; he lived all the way to forty (1473-1513). But it wasn't for lack of trying; he twice went to war with England. The first attempt, in support of Perkin Warbeck, was in 1502, and accomplished nothing.	
To cement the post-1502 peace, James IV married Margaret Tudor, the elder daughter of England's King Henry VII. (This was the marriage that eventually brought the Stewarts to the throne of England.) But that didn't prevent his warmongering. In 1513, the new English king Henry VIII was away in a sort of a mock campaign against France. James decided to go to war.	
Unfortunately for James, the defense of the border was in the hands of Thomas Howard, then Earl of Surrey (1443-1524). Surrey was the son of John Howard, Richard III's Duke of Norfolk, and had fought for Richard III at Bosworth. But with Richard dead, Howard was given a partial pardon (being given the Surrey earldom though not the Norfolk dukedom). This may have been because, with Richard and the edge Howard doad. Surrey was the best colding in England.	
Surrey wanted to go to France with Henry (according to Garrett Mattingly, <i>Catherine of Aragon</i> , 1941 (I use the 1990 Book-of-the-Month club edition), p. 155, he was "choking with rage and grief" at not being allowed to join the invasion). But he ended up getting his chance to fight It was Surrey who led the army which intercepted the invading Scots.	Show Roud Folk Song List
The English and Scottish forces are believed to have been about equal in size, but Surrey outmaneuvered the Scots and inflicted a crushing defeat, killing James, the cream of his army, and about a third of his troops a defeat which came to be commemorated in the popular lament "The Flowers o' the Forest." Surrey lost perhaps 5%-10% of his own men.	Show Roud Broadside List
Scotland as always when a new monarch came to the throne was plunged into chaos. The border was safe for many years. Surrey received the Norfolk dukedom, which has remained in the Howard family ever since RBW	Find by Field
The file number indicates the end of the entry.	Quit Help
	Rescue Me!
	Ballad Index Reference List

If an entry is too long to fit on a screen, it will usually have a scroll bar. If it doesn't, tap or click in the text of the entry; a scrollbar should appear on the right to let you scroll through the entry. To learn about the various fields found in the song entries, see the section Information Found in the Ballad Index.

Let's talk about all the commands on the Find page. If you are just starting up, you can click either the "Go to Index" or the "Rescue Me" button to get to the main search page:



The left-hand side of the page shows the information on "Brave Wolfe." On the right are the buttons you can use to find songs. You'll note that there are three "Find" commands, "Quick Find," "Find by Field" and "Find Anywhere." (The "Search Songs" button is something else, which we'll talk about when we get to the Supplemental Tradition.)

"Quick Find" is the fastest because it lets you search only three parts of the Index — the song title, the description, and the keywords. These are all what are called "Indexed Fields," which means that they can be searched very quickly. "Find by Field" is also fairly fast; it's just a little harder to know where to search. "Find Anywhere" is much, *much* slower — it takes several seconds on a Mac or PC (more, if the computer is slow), and a minute or more on an iPad. The only advantage of "Find Anywhere" is that it searches *everything*. Unfortunately, because the Ballad Index is big, searching everything takes a long time. But let's try it so that you can see how it works. If you press the "Find Anywhere" button, you get the "Find Anywhere" screen:

### The "Find Anywhere" Command



Let's say you want to look up songs about President James A. Garfield. You could type in "Garfield," then press return, or tap the "Search" button, or press "Go" on the iPad/iPhone keyboard. Any of those will start the search. Then you wait, and wait, and wait (often a minute or more), while the Index searches for all songs with the word "Garfield" somewhere in the text. It should find several dozen records (note that the number at the upper left will tell you just how many you've found):

43 SONG records TITLE	Click for DESCRIPTION	Click for REFERENCES	Click for ROUD REFS	Click for NOTES
Show America (My Country 'Tis of Thee)	Descrip	9 Refs	Roud # V16615	Notes
Show Annie Laurie	Descrip	17 Refs	Roud # 8179	Notes
Show Babies on Our Block, The	Descrip	11 Refs	Roud # 9572	Notes
Show Battle Cry of Freedom, The	Descrip	14 Refs	Roud # V20863	Notes
Show Camptown Races	Descrip	16 Refs	Roud # 11768	Notes
Show Carry Me Back to Old Virginny	Descrip	12 Refs	Roud # 15431	Notes
Show Charles Guiteau [Laws E11]	Descrip	34 Refs	Roud # 444	Notes
Show City of Refuge	Descrip	5 Refs	Roud # 11828	Notes
Show De Boatman Dance	Descrip	19 Refs	Roud # 5898	Notes
Show Death of Garfield (version of Charles Guiteau [Laws E11])				
Show Drink It Down	Descrip	5 Refs	Roud # 17004	
Show Every Time I Feel the Spirit	Descrip	20 Refs	Roud # 12358	
Show Fisherman Peter	Descrip	1 Refs		Notes
Show Garfield	Descrip	1 Refs	Roud # 9138	Notes
Show Garfield (II) (version of Mister Garfield)				
Show Go in the Wilderness	Descrip	10 Refs	Roud # 11846	Notes
Show Hold the Fort	Descrip	5 Refs	Roud # V3085	Notes
Show Humphrey Marshall	Descrip	1 Refs		Notes
Show I Heard the Voice of Jesus Say	Descrip	6 Refs	Roud # 22461	Notes
Show In that Great Gettin' Up Morning	Descrip	6 Refs	Roud # 15228	
Show James A. Garfield (version of Charles Guiteau [Laws E11])				
To look at a song, tap it then tap the Show Details button > Show Details Sort by Name Sort by Roud #	Sort by Popularity Fin	ick nd Find by Field	Quit Help	Rescue Me!

As we saw above, there are two sorts of entries here: Main entries, in **bold red** type, and cross-references, in *magenta italic*.

If you click on one of the main entries, such as "Babies on our Block" or "Charles Guiteau," and then "Show Details," you'll get a detail screen. But if you select the fourth entry, "Death of Garfield (version of Charles Guiteau [Laws E11])" you'll find something different, because it isn't really a song. It says itself that it's a cross-reference:



Ordinarily, of course, you won't care much about cross-references. But this can be useful if you find *only* the cross-references and not the main entry. This lets you get around that problem.

### The "Find by Field" Command

The "Find Anywhere" command found us what we wanted. But you don't want to use the "Find Anywhere" command if at all possible. It's just too slow! If you want to find a song quickly, you want to use the "Find by Field" command. This will let you search for a song by title, or by our special list of keywords, or even by the books which contain it. If you tap the "Find by Field" button (which should show up almost anywhere), you'll see this screen:

	Find by Field To search, type the (first letters of) words into the appropriate field(s). Press ENTER when done.	112
Ballad Name		
Description	9	
Keywords	9	Keyword
Roud #		List
Author	C Earliest Date	Found In
Found In	9	List
Historical References	9	BLUE BACKGROUNDS
References	Q	are fastest
Recordings	Q	Abort Find
Broadsides	9	Find by Field
Alternate Titles	٩	Quit Help
SameTune		Rescue Me!
Notes	٩	(Slow!) Find Anywhere
Bibliography	٩	
Refe	Last Updated in v:     Q       Search cross references as well as main entries?     IN	Search
(	Dr Search All Fields (SLOW!)	

This form lets you search on any field in the Ballad Index. For example, if you wanted to find all the recordings of old-time singers Grayson & Whitter, you could go into "Recordings" field and type "Grayson Whitter" (the search function searches word by word, unless you put the text in quotes to say "use this whole phrase"). Or you could type "Grays Whitt," because the search function looks at the *beginnings* of words (so "Grays Whitt" works, but "ayson hitter" won't get you anything).

You can also search all fields, as you did with the "Find Anywhere" command, by filling in the greenframed "All Fields" box at the bottom, but it's still slow. You can even search in one particular field for some text and all fields for some other text — if you want to wait that long!

If you're looking for a particular song, though, the place to start is the "Ballad Name" field. Select/tap that box (if it isn't already active) and type in a name to search. Say you want to find "The Golden Vanity." So you would tap on the Ballad Name field and type "Gold Vani" (or whatever), then hit "Go" or the "Enter" key or click the "Search" button. Up will pop "The Golden Vanity" (plus the cross-reference entry "The Golden Vanitee"):

Golden Vanity, The [Child 286]	Font Size: 11
NAME: Golden Vanity, The [Child 286] DESCRIPTION: A ship is threatened by a foreign galley. The ship's cabin boy, promised gold and the captain's daughter as wife, sinks the galley. He comes back to his ship; the captain will not take him from the water. (The ending is variable)	Quick Find
AUTHOR: Unknown EARLIEST DATE: c. 1685 (broadside) KEYWORDS: sea battle death promise lie abandonment betrayal trick FOUND IN: Britsie/Excelend/d/IN: Scotland/Aber Berd/United US/d/IN Canada/Mar Newf Opt)	Find by Field
HISTORICAL REFERENCES: c. 1552-1618 - Life of Sir Walter Raleigh (one of whose ships was named "The Sweet Trinity")	Find Anywhere (slow)
Child 286, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (3 texts, 2 tunes) (Bronson's #52, #55) Bronson 286, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (111 versions+1 in addenda) BronsonSinging 286, "The Golden Vanity" (7 versions: #2, #27, #43, #71, #74, #94, #102) Grein #116, p. 1, "The Lowlands C1" Grein #119, p. 2, "The Lowlands Low" (2 texts)	Search Songs
GreigDuncan1 37, "The Golden Vanity" (5 texts, 4 tunes) (D=Bronson's #13) Ord, pp. 450-451, "The Lowlands Low" (1 text) Biopertson-Porter-Gower #30, pp. 165-166, "The Golden Victory" (1 text, 1 tune)	Print
Broadwood/Mailland, pp. 182-183, "The Golden Vanity" (1 text, 1 tune) Williams, Thames, pp. 199-200, "The Golden Vanitee" (1 text) (also Wiltshire-WSRO Wt 444) Beeves-Circle 51. "The Golden Vanite" (1 text)	Сору
Purslow-Constant, pp. 37-38, "The Golden Vanity" (1 text, 2 tunes) Hamer-Garners, pp. 78-79, "The Golden Vanity" (1 text, 1 tune) HoudBishop #9, "The Golden Vanity" (1 text, 1 tune)	This song has associated text(s)
Osnaugnnessy Lincoinsnirg 7, "The Golden Vanity" (1 text, 1 tune) BarryEckstormSmyth pp. 339-347, "The Golden Vanity" (4 texts plus 2 fragments, 2 tunes) (Bronson's #108, #66) Flanders-Ancient4, pp. 188-263 "The Sweet Trinity or the Golden Vanity" (39 texts plus 11 fragments, 18 tunes) (E=Bronson's #71, HH=#64)	Show Song Text
Ford-Vagabond, pp. 103-106, "The Goulden Vanitee" (1 text, 1 tune) (Bronson's #53) Belden, pp. 97-100, "The Golden Vanity" (3 texts) Randolph 38, "The Lowlands Low" (4 texts plus a fragment, 3 tunes) (A-Bronson's #69, D=#48, E=#51)	
Handooph/Content, pp. 56-59, "The Lowiands Low" (1 text, 1 tune Handooph's 36A) ( <u>bronson's #69</u> ) AbrahamsHiddle, pp. 142-146, "The Golden Willow Tree" (1 text, 1 tune, plus some excerpts) Davis-Ballads 47, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (4 texts plus 2 fragments, 1 tune entitled "The <u>Turkish-Rogherlee</u> and the Yellow Golden Tree, or Lowlands Low") ( <u>Bronson's #109</u> ) Davis-More 43, pp. 339-343, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (1 text, 1 tune)	Show Song List
Brownil 47, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (3 texts plus mention of 2 more) BrownSchinhanIV 47, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (6 excerpts, 6 tunes) Chappell-FSRA 21, "The Green Willow Tree" (2 texts, 1 tune) (Bronson's #50)	Show Roud Folk Song List
Hichardson, pp. 28-29, "The Mary Golden Tree" (1 text, 1 tune) {Bronson's #97} Morris, #174, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (2 texts) Hudson 25, pp. 125-127, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (1 text)	Show Roud Broadside List
Moore-Southwest 56, "There Was a Little Ship" (1 text, 1 tune) Owens-2ed, pp. 38-40, "The Merry Golden Tree" (1 text, 1 tune) Bionner Eskint 5, "Golden Willow Tree" (1 text, 1 tune)	Find by Field
Borswein/Wone 20, pp. 37-39, "There was a Ship Salling" (1 text, 1 tune) Burton/Manning1, pp. 37-38, "The Golden Willow Tree, or The Turkish <u>Rebilee</u> " (1 text, 1 tune) Burton/Manning2, pp. 86-87, "The Golden Willow Tree" (1 text, 1 tune) Scarbornub SonaCatcher, pp. 184-189, "The Sweet Tripity: The Golden Vanity" (2 texts: the first, with no title, is from Bandolph; the	Quit Help
second has local title "The Golden Willow Tree"; I tune on pp. 406-407) (Bronson's #107) Shellans, pp. 62-63, "The Lonesome Sea Ballad" (1 text, 1 tune) Bosenbaum, p. 10, "The Little Shoin" (1 text, 1 tune)	Rescue Me!
Brewster 25, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (3 texts, 1 tune) (Bronson's #68) List, pp. 291-294, "The Lowland Sea" (1 text, 1 tune) Gardner/Chickering 82, "The Lowlands Low" (1 text, 1 tune) (Bronson's #110, related to "The Arkansas Traveller").	Ballad Index Reference List
Sackett/Koch, pp. 165-168, "The Sweet Trinity (The Golden Vanity)" (1 text, 1 tune)	

Searching by title is the best thing to do if you know the exact name of your song and it's a unique name. But what if the name is "The *Titanic*"? There are more than a dozen *Titanic* songs in the Index. Or what if all you remember is that the song's name includes the word "Sailor"? There are almost two hundred titles in the Index which include the word "sailor."

For this, you want to use a more elaborate find. Let's say you want a song about a sailor whose girlfriend goes into disguise to follow him to battle where she dies. For this, you can use what is called a "complex search," using multiple criteria. For instance, the search below will find all songs which has "sailor" in the title and which use the keywords "love" and "death":

Dallad	Find by Field To search, type the (first letters of) words into the appropriate field(s). Press ENTER when done.	
Name	sallor	
Description	٩	
Keywords	love death	Keyword
Roud #		List
Author	C Earliest Date	Found In
Found In		List
Historical References	9	BLUE BACKGROUNDS
References	Q,	are fastest
Recordings	Q.	Abort Find
Broadsides	Q,	Find by Field
Alternate Titles		Quit Help
SameTune	Q.	Rescue Me!
Notes	٩	(Slow!) Find Anywhere
Bibliography		·
Refe	Search cross references as well as main entries?	Search
(	Dr Search All Fields (SLOW!)	

Performing this search reduces your list to just four, which you can more easily search through: "Female Rambling Sailor," "Polly on the Shore (The Valiant Sailor)," "The Sailor Boy (I)," and "The Young Sailor Bold (I)." You can read the descriptions to see which one you want.

If you don't know the keywords, you can go to the Help and look up keywords:

		KEYWORD	LIST			
Quick Find	Find by Field	Quit Help	Rescue Me!		About	Go to Index
Conditions						
age captivity cowardice	disability disease gree	ed grief hardhea	rtedness hate homesickness	jealousy loneliness madne	ess poverty pr	ride shrewishness
vanity virtue						
Love, Sex, and Marria	ge	ality incost infide	olitu lovo morriago ropo ring o	eduction cox virginity word	dina	
Talk	elopement nomosexu	ality incest initio	any love marnage rape ring s	eduction sex virginity wear	Jing	
accusation bargaining t	bequest bragging curse	e lie promise que	estions request rejection riddle	e wager warning		
Strife	ntest desertion fourd fin	ht marinee muti	ny navy reballion recruiting st	rike violence war		
Travelling	nest desertion redu lig	int mannes muti	ity navy rebenion recruiting st	The violence wai		
emigration exile explora	ation farewell home par	rting rambling re	aturn reunion separation shan	ghaiing train travel		
abandonment abduction	n abuse betraval crime	deportation exe	ecution homicide law manhun	t poaching prison punishm	ent revence	robbery sabotage sin
theft transportation trial	ababb boarayar onnio	dopontation on		r pouloning priceri punioni	childrongen	outonage on
Deliverance						
escape freedom help m	ercy pardon reprieve r	resurrection reso	cue			
Appearances						
beauty clothes colors cl	ross-dressing disguise	hiding hair shap	pe-changing trick			
Birth and Death	de eth desuminer duiner (	fun and leastwill a				
Work and Blav	death drowning dying i	runeral lastwill n	nourning pregnancy suicide			
canal commerce factor	v farming fishing flying	gambling garde	ning game gift gold harvest h	unting labor-movement lur	nbering minir	a money racina
railroading river sea shi	in shore sports tasks to	schnology unem	ployment weaving work	unting labor-movement fur	indening minim	ig money racing
Magic	p onore spone table to	sonnoiogy anom	picyment neutring ment			
dream Easter healing h	erbs magic medicine p	oison prophecy	ritual			
Good Times						
cards dancing drink dru	gs fiddle flowers food	harp music party	y wine			
Bad Times					0.77.0	
begging cannibalism cr	ash disaster discrimina	ation dustbowl fi	re flood hardtimes injury orde	al slavery starvation storm	wreck	
Placenames	Conside Caribbase C	bine Feeland F		dia lastand Marrian Marri 7	and out	Durale Contined
Africa America Australia	a Canada Canobean C	Inina England F	rance Germany Hawaii Hell Ir	ndia ireland Mexico New Z	ealand Queb	ec Hussia Scotland
Song Types						
bawdy Bible borderballa	ad brokentoken carol c	haingang Christ	tmas cumulative derivative dia	alog feminist floatingverses	s foc's le forei	onlanguage
gallows-confessions hu	morous lament lullaby	lyric memorial r	noniker nightvisit nonballad n	onsense paradox parody p	atriotic playp	arty political
recitation religious scate	ological shanty supern	atural talitale wa	assail wordplay worksong			
Cast of Characters			and the second			
Animals animal bird b	oug chickens dog horse	e monster selkie	sheep whale wren		A CONTRACTOR OF	
Family and Lovers ba	iby bachelor bastard b	rother children f	amily father friend husband lo	over mistress mother oldma	aid orphan rai	ke sister stepmother
twins whore wife youth	have descended		- Indata Inc. Band Inc	a settle a set a set a set una		the set line such
Employed apprentice	DOSS CIErgy COOK COW	boy doctor judge	e knight landlord lawyer logge	er miller minstrei nobility pil	ot police roya	ity sallor scap
servant snepherd slave	soluter unker whater w	vorker f				
Supernatural Devil of	nessgang prisoner the	aid/man witch				
Ethnia and Matianal	Healt(a) Ealtime foreign	and Cupper Indian		au Manalaan Dahinhaad		

Ethnic and National -- Black(s) Eskimo foreigner Gypsy Indians(Am.) IRA IWW Jacobites Jew Napoleon Robinhood Wanderers or Travellers -- hobo migrant pioneer settler

Or, from the Find by Field page, you can just click the "Keyword List" button to see the list:

	To search, type the (first	Keyword List	
Ballad	Q	Conditions	
Name		age captivity cowardice disability disease greed grief hardheartedness hate homesickness jealousy loneliness madness poverty pride shrewishness vanity virtue	
Description	9	Love, Sex, and Marriage adultery courting dowry elopement homosexuality incest infidelity love marriage rape ring seduction sex virginity wedding Taik	
Keywords	٩	accusation bargaining bequest bragging curse lie promise questions request rejection riddle wager warning Strife	Key
Roud #	Q	army battle Civilwar contest desertion feud fight marines mutiny havy rebellion recruiting strike violence war	
Author	Q. E	emigration exile exploration farewell home parting rambling return reunion separation shanghaling	Fou
Found In	Q	Crime and Punishment	L
Historical	Q	abandonment abduction abuse betrayal crime deportation execution homicide law manhunt poaching prison punishment revenge robbery sabotage sin theft transportation trial	hes on fie
References	-0-	Deliverance escape freedom help mercy pardon reprieve resurrection rescue	GROUN
References	٩	Appearances beauty clothes colors cross-dressing disguise hiding hair shape-changing trick Birth and Death	stest
Desertions		Work and Play	Abort Fir
Recordings	ц.	canal commerce factory farming fishing flying gambling gardening game gift gold harvest hunting labor-movement lumbering mining money racing railroading river sea ship shore sports tasks technology unemployment weaving work	Quick Fi
Broadsides	٩	dream Easter healing herbs magic medicine poison prophecy ritual	
		cards dancing drink drugs fiddle flowers food harp music party wine	Find by F
Alternate Titles	٩	Bad Times begging cannibalism crash disaster discrimination dustbowl fire flood hardtimes injury ordeal slavery starvation storm wreck Placenames	uit
SameTune	٩	Africa America Australia Canada Caribbean China England France Germany Hawali Hell India Ireland Mexico New Zealand Quebec Russia Scotland Spain Vietnam Song Tyces	Rescue M
Notes	9	bawdy Bible borderballad brokentoken carol chaingang Christmas cumulative derivative dialog feminist floatingverses foc's'te foreignlanguage gallows-confession humorous lament lullaby lyric memorial moniker nightvisit nonballad nonsense paradox parody patriotic playparty political recitation religious scatological shanty supernatural talitale wassail wordplay worksong Cast of Characters	Slow!) Fi Anywhe
Bibliography	Q	Animals animal bird bug chickens dog horse monster selkle sheep whale wren Family and Lovers baby bachelor bastard brother children family father friend husband lover	-
Refe	erence # q	mistress mother oldmaid orphan rake sister stepmother twins whore wife youth Employed apprentice boss clergy cook cowboy doctor judge knight landford lawyer logger miller misteria politik pilot police provide salar schede begrant shaperd slave soldier tibber with a worker and the sold state of the sold schede begrant shaperd slave sold state to be a sold state worker and the sold state of the sold schede begrant shaperd slave sold schede begrant state to be a sold state worker and the sold schede begrant state of the sold schede begrant state of the sold schede begrant schede	Searc
	Search cross references as well a	Legal - outlaw pirate pressgang prisoner thief Supernatural - Devil ghost gods Jesus mermaid/man witch	_
(	Or Search	Napoleon Robinhood	
	All Fields	wanderers or Traveners nobo migrant pioneer setuer	
	THI I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I		1

You can use these keywords to construct quite complex searches.

You'll notice that some of the fields in the "Find by Field" search form are shown in **cyan**. These are what are called "indexed fields." This means that they are particularly suited for searches. A search for something in one of these fields will be almost instantaneous.

Indexed fields are so useful, in fact, that we constructed the "Quick Find" form to use them more efficiently.

#### **Quick Find**

If you click the "Quick Find" button, you will see a search form with just three fields, all indexed:

0	Quick Find
Enter some wor	ds to describe the song you are seeking:
Song Name:	
5	
Words from the	song description:
Song Keywords	:
	Cancel

This form looks somewhat different on the different platforms, but the point is to allow you to enter data in one, two, or all three of the most important indexed fields. It's not very different from "Find by Field," but it's a little faster if you don't want to go hunting through all the fields.

And that's it! That's how you search for songs in the Ballad Index. Again, to learn about the various fields found in the song entries, see the section Information Found in the Ballad Index.

Of course, just because you've found your song doesn't mean that you can't learn more about it than is found in the Ballad Index alone. The Ballad Index also gives you access to the information compiled in Steve Roud's Folk Song Index....

# The Roud Folk Song Index

The Traditional Ballad Index, as we said above, is an index of songs. It includes bibliographic information, but it is primarily a description of song families — where and when they are found, often with historical and literary background

This isn't the only way to look at songs. Another "viewpoint" is to look at all the individual versions of songs, rather than the song as a whole. For this, Steve Roud's *Folk Song Index* is invaluable.

Look again at the main Ballad Index page. Among all the buttons shown on the right-hand side are two labelled "Show Roud Folk Song List" and "Show Roud Broadside List":



Using the "Show Roud Folk Song List" button will display all the versions of this song found in the attached version of Steve Roud's Folk Song Index. For "Brave Wolfe," that's quite a list — there are at least fifty of them! So if you click the "Show Roud Folk Song List" button, a new window will appear (or come to the front) which looks something like this:

Steve Roud's Folk Song Index Copyright © by Steve Roud. All rights reserved.						
Quick Roud	Search Find by Find Anywhere (slow!)	Sort Sort by Roud #	Show Find this Broadsides Roud #	Show Det	Song About	
Name:	BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND WOLFE, THE	Warner, Traditional Ame	erican Folk Songs (1980)	X6132	Roud # 961	
1st Line:	Bad news has come to town, bad news is can	ried			Laws A1	
From:	Galusha, John	USA : New York : Minerva	MORE		Text; Music	
Name:	BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND WOLFE, THE	Folktrax 921-90 ('Yanke	e John Galusha')	X6664	Roud # 961	
1st Line:	Bad news has come to town, bad news is can	ried			Laws A1	
From:	Galusha, John	USA : New York : Minerva	MORE		Audio	
Name:	BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND WOLFE, THE	Emrich, American Folk	Poetry (1974) pp.419	X10175	Roud # 961	
1st Line:	Bad news has come to town, bad news is can	ried			Laws A1	
From:	Galusha, John	USA : New York : Minerva	MORE	]	Text	
Name:	BOLD WOLFE	Peacock, Songs of the	Newfoundland Outports	X5472	Roud # 961	
1st Line:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright	you			Laws A1	
1st Line: From:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman	<i>you</i> Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau	l's MORE		Laws A1 Text; Music	
1st Line: From: Name:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o	I's MORE	X5452	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o	l's MORE	) X5452	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o Canada : Newfoundland	I's MORE of Canadian Folk Songs MORE	) X5452	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From: Name:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all BOLD WOLFE	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o Canada : Newfoundland Greenleaf & Mansfield,	I's MORE If Canadian Folk Songs MORE Ballads & Sea Songs of	X5452	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o Canada : Newfoundland Greenleaf & Mansfield,	I's MORE If Canadian Folk Songs MORE Ballads & Sea Songs of	X5452 X5981	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all Payne, William / Daniel Endacott	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o Canada : Newfoundland Greenleaf & Mansfield, Canada : Newfoundland : Sally's	I's MORE If Canadian Folk Songs MORE Ballads & Sea Songs of Cove MORE	X5452 X5981	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From: Name: Name:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all Payne, William / Daniel Endacott BOLD WOLFE	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o Canada : Newfoundland Greenleaf & Mansfield, Canada : Newfoundland : Sally's o Kenneth Peacock Colle	I's MORE of Canadian Folk Songs MORE Ballads & Sea Songs of Cove MORE ction (Canadian Museum	x5452 x5981	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961	
1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line: From: Name: 1st Line:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright Bennett, Freeman BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all BOLD WOLFE Come all ye young men all Payne, William / Daniel Endacott BOLD WOLFE Come all you young men all, let nothing fright	you Canada : Newfoundland : St. Pau Fowke, Penguin Book o Canada : Newfoundland Greenleaf & Mansfield, Canada : Newfoundland : Sally's Kenneth Peacock Colle you	I's MORE of Canadian Folk Songs MORE Ballads & Sea Songs of Cove MORE ction (Canadian Museum	x5452 x5981 x8646	Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1 Text; Music Roud # 961 Laws A1	

This display shows the fundamental difference between the Roud Index and the Ballad Index: there is *one* entry for "Brave Wolfe" in the Ballad Index. There are fifty-odd entries for item #961 in the Roud Index, and it has no collective name.

The differences bring advantages and disadvantages. In the Ballad Index, you can tell at once when the song first appeared (Earliest Date: 1759), where is is found (most of the eastern U. S. and Canada, plus southern England), and you can read the extensive historical notes on the song — fuller than in any published folk song collection. But all you can tell about the entry in Peacock, for instance, is that it's called "Bold Wolfe," that it's on pp. 986-987, and that it is a single text with a tune. This is the meaning of the Ballad Index entry "Peacock, pp. 986-987, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)."

Even the above summary view of the Roud Index tells you something more about that particular version. Look down to the third item in the list above. It's "Bold Wolfe," from Peacock. This display gives you the first line, the person who performed it, and the place where it was collected. And in fact the Roud Index has even more detail on that particular version of the song. If you select the Peacock item (by clicking or tapping on it), then hitting the "Show Song Details" button, you will see this:



This gives you all the information you've already seen: The local title, the first line, the person and place where the version was collected. It also gives you the date of the collection, more information on the publication, and the collector.

You can also get a shortcut to most of this information by pressing the "More" button in a particular entry:

Steve	Steve Roud's Folk Song Index Copyright © by Steve Roud. All rights reserved.							
Quick Rou	a Search d Index	Find by Find Anywhere Sind Anywhere Sind Sind Sind Sind Sind Sind Sind Sind	Sort So Name Ro	ort by oud #	Show Broadsides	Find this Roud #	Show Det	Song ails About
Name:		BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND	WOLFE THE -	- Roud #961		(1980)	X6132	Roud # 961
1st Line				11000				Laws A1
From:	TITLE1	BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND WOL	LFE, THE			MORE		Text; Music
Name:	TITLE2						X6664	Roud # 961
1st Line	TUNE							Laws A1
From:	FIRST	Bad news has come to town, bad n	news is carried			MORE		Audio
Name	TYPE	Printed : Book				110	X10175	Boud # 961
1et Line	SOURCE	Warner, Traditional American Folk	Songs (1980) p	op.87-89		+13	X10175	Laws A1
From:	PREV					MORE		Laws Al
	PERF	Galusha, John				MORE		TOAL
Name:	PLACE	USA : New York : Minerva				tports	X5472	Roud # 961
1st Line	DATE	1940 / 1941 / 1946						Laws A1
From:	COLL	Warner, Anne & Frank				MORE		Text; Music
Name:	CONTENT	Text; Music				Songs	X5452	Roud # 961
1st Line	DATEADD	961						Laws A1
From:	KOOD #	Jawe A1				MORE		Text; Music
Name:	SUBJECTS	Laws Al				nas of	X5981	Roud # 961
1st Line	BS PRINT					ingo or	10001	Laws A1
From:	BSLOC					MORE		Text: Music
	NOTES1					MORE		TOAL, MUSIC
Name:						luseum	X8646	Roud # 961
1st Line							_	Laws A1
From:	Bennett, Fre	eman (	Canada : Newfo	undland : St. Pa	ul's	MORE		Text; Music; Audio

This simple example again shows the differences between the Roud and Ballad Indices. You search the Ballad Index primarily for information about songs; the Roud Index gives much fuller information about versions.

Some, not all, records have a URL associated with them. This is a location where you can find a copy of the item online. For example, if you used the "Next Record" button to scroll through the Roud song list, you would eventually reach this item:

TITLE1	BRAVE WOLFE		Outste Casarda
TITLE2			Quick Search Roud Index
TUNE			Nodu Index
FIRST			Find
TYPE	Sound recording		Find By Anywher
SOURCE	Helen Hartness Flanders Collection	(Middlebury College, Vermont) D37 B 07	Field (slow!)
PREV			
PERF	Richards, Belle Luther		Show Song List
PLACE	USA : New Hampshire : Colebrook		Onlow Oong List
DATE	1943 (19 Jul)		
COLL	Flanders, Helen Hartness	Show Ballad	Cancel Find
CONTENT	Audio	Index Entry	Ganger Find
DATEADD	20040600		
ROUD #	961	Find this Show Roud	
OTHER	Laws A1	Roud # Broadsides	First Previou
SUBJECTS			Record Record
BS PRINT		Fields with cyan background	
BS LOC		search the fastest.	a contract in a contract
NOTES1			Next Last
NOTES2	[Audio items in the Flanders Collection	n are available on the Internet Archive	Record Record
ROUDID	S271455	Performer Gender	
BIBLIOGRAPHY REF(S)	X6926		
	Flanders, Helen Hartness, Helen Ha	rtness Flanders Ballad Collection	Quit About
SCANNED	https://archive.	Show URL	

At the bottom of the page, you see the URL for this item, and the "Show URL" button. You can click the button to show the actual web site in a browser.

For more details on the fields shown here, see the section called Information Found in Steve Roud's Folk Song Index and Broadside Index.

The Roud Broadside Index is very similar to the Folk Song Index. If you choose "Show Roud Broadside List" instead of "Show Roud Folk Song Index" for "Brave Wolfe," you'll get a screen with a very similar set of buttons but a different color scheme:

Steve Roud's Broadside Index Copyright © by Steve Roud. All rights reserved.						
Quick Se Brdside I	earch ndex Find by Find Anywhere Sort by Roud # Show Balld Idx F3	iow Roud Find this Roud #	Show Song Details	About		
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book	Roud #	961		
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1		
From:	Jackson, Early Songs of Uncle Sam pp.174-176					
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961		
1st Line:	Cheer up young men all			Laws A1		
From:	Forget-Me-Not Songster (Locke & Bubier, Boston, c1850?) pp.45-47	2.50 B				
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961		
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1		
From:	Forget Me Not Songster (Nafis & Cornish, NY: c1845) pp.45-47					
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961		
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1		
From:	rom: Forget Me Not Songster (Cornish, Lamport & Co., NY: 1851) pp.45-47					
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961		
1st Line:	Cheer up young men all			Laws A1		
From:	From: Forget-Me-Not Songster (J.S. Locke & Co., Boston, c1850?) pp.45-47					
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961		
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1		
From:	American Songster (Fisher & Brother, Philadelphia, c1855?) pp.209-212					

And if you "Show Song Details," you will again see details much like those in the Folk Song Index:



### Using the Roud Broadside and Folk Song Indices together

The Roud Folk Song and Broadside indices are separate databases, but they are closely linked by the Roud Numbers — the numbers Steve Roud assigns to different versions of the same song. So Roud #1 is "The Gypsy Laddie" [Child #200]; in the above example, "Brave Wolfe" is Roud #961. It is because all versions of a song have the same Roud number that you can use the "Find this Roud #" button to get a list of all the versions of a song; what the database does is simply look up all instances of Roud #1 (or whatever).

But what if you're in the Broadside Index and wants to get all versions of "Brave Wolfe" in the Folk Song Index, or vice versa? There is a command for that. If you're in the Broadside Index summary view, for instance, you can use the "Show Roud FS Index" button:

Steve Roud's Broadside Index Copyright © by Steve Roud. All rights reserved.					
Quick Se Brdside	earch Find by Find Anywhere Sort Sort by Roud # Show Show Show Show Show Show Show Show	ow Roud Find this S Index Roud #	Show Song Details	About	
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book	Roud #	961	
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1	
From:	Jackson, Early Songs of Uncle Sam pp.174-176				
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961	
1st Line:	Cheer up young men all			Laws A1	
From:	Forget-Me-Not Songster (Locke & Bubier, Boston, c1850?) pp.45-47				
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961	
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1	
From:	Forget Me Not Songster (Nafis & Cornish, NY: c1845) pp.45-47				
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961	
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1	
From:	Forget Me Not Songster (Cornish, Lamport & Co., NY: 1851) pp.45-47				
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961	
1st Line:	Cheer up young men all			Laws A1	
From:	From: Forget-Me-Not Songster (J.S. Locke & Co., Boston, c1850?) pp.45-47				
Name:	BRAVE WOLFE	Printed : Book Songster	Roud #	961	
1st Line:	Cheer up my young men all			Laws A1	
From:	American Songster (Fisher & Brother, Philadelphia, c1855?) pp.209-212				

This will bring up the Folk Song index and take you to the list of records for "Brave Wolfe." If you're looking at a detail page, you'll see a similar button, "Show Roud Folk Songs":



Similarly if you're in the Folk Song Index; there, the buttons are labelled "Show Broadsides" or "Show Roud Broadsides."



URL

Steve	Roud's Folk Song Index Copyrig	ht © by Steve Roud. All rights reserved.	Quit
Quick Roud	Search Find by Find Anywhere Index Field (slow!)	Sort Sort by Show Find this Broadsides Roud #	w Song About
Name:	BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND WOLFE, THE	Warner, Traditional American Folk Songs X613	2 Roud # 961
1st Line:	Bad news has come to town, bad news is can	ried	Laws A1
From:	Galusha, John	USA : New York : Minerva	Text; Music
Name:	BALLAD OF MONTCALM AND WOLFE, THE	Folktrax 921-90 ('Yankee John Galusha') X6664	4 Roud # 961
1st Line:	Bad news has come to town, bad news is can	ried	Laws A1
From:	Galusha, John	USA : New York : Minerva	Audio
Name:	BOLD WOLFE	Peacock, Songs of the Newfoundland X5472	2 Roud # 961
1st Line:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright	you	Laws A1
From:	Bennett, Freeman	Canada : Newfoundland : St. Paul's	Text; Music
Name:	BOLD WOLFE	Fowke, Penguin Book of Canadian Folk X545	2 Roud # 961
1st Line:	Come all ye young men all		Laws A1
From:		Canada : Newfoundland	Text; Music
Name:	BOLD WOLFE	Greenleaf & Mansfield, Ballads & Sea X598	1 Roud # 961
1st Line:	Come all ye young men all		Laws A1
From:	Payne, William / Daniel Endacott	Canada : Newfoundland : Sally's Cove	Text; Music
Name:	BOLD WOLFE	Kenneth Peacock Collection (Canadian X864	Roud # 961
1st Line:	Come all you young men all, let nothing fright	you	Laws A1
From:	Bennett, Freeman	Canada : Newfoundland : St. Paul's	Text; Music; Audio

Note that, if you're in the Broadside Index and you are looking at a broadside with no Roud number, it won't allow you to look things up — there isn't anything *to* look up.



Also, not all Roud numbers have associated broadsides, so trying the "Show" may get you an error message, "No broadsides match the current Roud number. Please try again." This will take you to the Broadside index and let you choose a find command, but won't show you any songs.
### Using the Roud Index with the Ballad Index

We've already shown how to get from the Ballad Index to the Roud Indices. But you don't have to search that way. For any particular song, you can start in either place. Which one you start with may depend on what you remember. For example, suppose that you remember that there is a Robin Hood ballad beginning with something about "shaws" in summer.

The first thing you might try is looking for the keyword "Robinhood" in the Ballad Index. So you go to Quick Find and try it:

Enter some wor	ds to describe the song you are seeking:
Song Name:	
Words from the	song description:
Words from the	song description:
Words from the Song Keywords	song description:

Problem is, you'll find that there is an overabundance of Robin Hood ballads out there (and most of them, to be honest, not worth the cheap paper they were printed on):

44 SONG records TITLE	Click for DESCRIPTION	Click for REFERENCES	Click for ROUD REFS	Click for NOTES
Show Bold Pediar and Robin Hood, The [Child 132]	Descrip	22 Refs	Roud # 333	Notes
Show Gest of Robyn Hode, A [Child 117] Part 01	Descrip	29 Refs	Roud # 70	Notes
Show Hal-an-Tow	Descrip	7 Refs	Roud # 1520	Notes
Show Jolly Pinder of Wakefield, The [Child 124]	Descrip	13 Refs	Roud # 3981	Notes
Show King's Disguise, and Friendship with Robin Hood, The [Child 151]	Descrip	4 Refs	Roud # 3993	Notes
Show Little John a Begging [Child 142]	Descrip	8 Refs	Roud # 3988	Notes
Show Noble Fisherman, The, or, Robin Hood's Preferment [Child 148]	Descrip	9 Refs	Roud # 3958	Notes
Show Robin Hood and Allen a Dale [Child 138]	Descrip	15 Refs	Roud # 3298	Notes
Show Robin Hood and Guy of Gisborne [Child 118]	Descrip	13 Refs	Roud # 3977	Notes
Show Robin Hood and Little John [Child 125]	Descrip	17 Refs	Roud # 1322	Notes
Show Robin Hood and Maid Marian [Child 150]	Descrip	7 Refs	Roud # 3992	Notes
Show Robin Hood and Queen Katherine [Child 145]	Descrip	9 Refs	Roud # 72	Notes
Show Robin Hood and the Beggar (I) [Child 133]	Descrip	6 Refs	Roud # 3391	Notes
Show Robin Hood and the Beggar (II) [Child 134]	Descrip	5 Refs	Roud # 3392	Notes
Show Robin Hood and the Bishop [Child 143]	Descrip	10 Refs	Roud # 3955	Notes
Show Robin Hood and the Bishop of Hereford [Child 144]	Descrip	11 Refs	Roud # 2338	Notes
Show Robin Hood and the Bride	Descrip	2 Refs	Roud # 3298	Notes
Show Robin Hood and the Butcher [Child 122]	Descrip	10 Refs	Roud # 3980	Notes
To look at a song, tap it then tap the Show Details button Show Details Sort by Name Sort by Name Roud #	Sort by opularity Fir	ick Find by Field	Quit Help	Rescue Me!

You could try going through all 44 of these ballads — but it's a lot easier to shift to the Roud Folk Song Index and try a different sort of Quick Find (use the "Quick Search Roud Index" button):

000	Quick Find
Enter some informatio	n to describe the song you are seeking:
Song Name	
Rob	
First Line	
shaw	
Roud Number	
	Cancel Find

That will get you thirteen or so hits, but they turn out to be just two songs, "Robin Hood and Guy of Gisborne" (Roud #3977) and "Robin Hood and the Monk" (Roud #3978). Since the first line of "Robin

Hood and the Monk" is "In somer, when the shawes be sheyne," that seems likely to be the right one. How to check? Find it in the Ballad Index! Show one of the Roud Index records, say the one from Dobson & Taylor:

Stev	ve Roud's Folk Song Index Copyright © by	Steve Roud. A	Il rights reserved.		
TITLE1	ROBIN HOOD AND THE MONK			-	
TITLE2				Quick	Search
TUNE				Roud	IIIUEX
FIRST	In somer, when the shawes be sheyne				Find
TYPE	Printed : Book			Find By	Anywhere
SOURCE	Dobson & Taylor, Rymes of Robin Hood (197	6) pp.113-122		Field	(slow!)
PREV	Cambridge Univ. Lib. MS Ff.5.48, fos.128v-135v				
PERF				Show S	ong List
PLACE				onow o	ongeloc
DATE					
COLL		Show	Ballad	Cance	el Find
CONTENT	Text / Historical analysis	Index	Entry		
DATEADD	19970316				
ROUD #	3978	Find this	Show Roud	First	Browieue
OTHER	Child 119	Roud #	Bioausides	Record	Record
SUBJECTS			and the second		- UKANYA AKADA AYA
BS PRINT		Fields with cyan	background		
BS LOC		search the faste	st.	Mout	Last
NOTES1				Record	Record
NOTES2	0400705	L 121 - 5			
ROUDID	\$188765	Performer Gende	r		
BIBLIOGRAPHY REF(S)	X4740			Quit	About
	Dobson, R.b. & J. Taylor, <b>Rymes of Robin Ho</b> <b>English Outlaw</b> (London: Heinemann, 1976)	od: An Introduc	tion to the		
SCANNED					
URL					

Note the button that says "Show Ballad Index Entry." (This button will only be active if you have the Ballad Index open.) This will take you from the Roud Index to the Ballad Index:



found in the Roud Index — and extensive notes about the ballad, such as the manuscript containing it and its dating.

Thus intelligent use of the Ballad and Roud Indices together gives you more information than you can hope to derive from either one alone.

**Please Note:** The Roud Folk Song and Broadside Indices and the Traditional Ballad Index are edited separately, and new releases come out separately. The editorial philosophies are different. Sometimes one Index will combine songs which the other splits. The Ballad Index includes non-English material if found in English-speaking countries; the Roud Index does not. The two have indexed different sources. So, sometimes, they don't "align" perfectly. We still think the combination more useful than either alone.

# The Supplemental Tradition

Sometimes, not even the Roud Index will give you all the information you need to find a song, or to verify that this is what you want. This is where the Supplemental Tradition, or SuppTrad, comes in. The SuppTrad gives sample texts for certain of the songs in the Ballad Index.

You can always tell if a song has a SuppTrad entry by looking at the buttons to the right in detail view. "Brave Wolfe," for instance, shows you the message "This song has associated texts."



If there is a text, the button "Show Song Text" will also be activated (it will be dimmed out if there is no SuppTrad text). If you click the "Show Song Text" button, the song text will appear:

#### LA01 Brave Wolfe [Laws A1]

\*\*\* A \*\*\* From Helen Hartness Flanders and Marguerite Olney, Ballads Migrant in New England, pp. 120-122. "Copied from the written back pages of an old receipt book belonging to Mrs. Charles L. Olney, Springfield, Vermont." Known to have been in existence by 1939. Continue Cheer up your hearts, young men, let nothing fright you, Let not your courage fail, till after trial, Nor let your fancy move, at the first denial. Quick Find I went to see my love only to woo her, I went to gain her love, not to undo her, Whene'er I spoke a word, my tongue did quiver, I could not speak my mind, while I was with her. Copy Love, here's a diamond ring, long time I've kept it, 'Tis for your sake alone, that I have kept it, When you the posy read, think on the giver, Madam, remember me, or I'm undone forever. Brave Wolfe then took his leave of his dear jewel Most surely did she grieve, saying don't be cruel; Said he, 'tis for a space that I must leave you, Yet love, where'er I go, I'll not forget you. **Find by Field** So then this gallant lad did cross the ocean, To free America from her invasion, He landed at Quebec with all his party, The city to attack, both brave and hearty. Quit Help Brave Wolfe drew up his men in form so pretty, On the plains of Abraham, before the city, There, just before the town, the French did meet them, With double numbers, they resolved to beat them. **Rescue Me!** When drawn up in a line, for death prepared, While in each others' face their armies stare, So pleasantly brave Wolfe and Montcalm talked, So martially between their armies walked. Each man then took his post at their retire, So then these numerous hosts began to fire, The cannon on each side did roar like thunder, And youth in all their pride was torn asunder.

If the text is long, you can click in its window and scroll through the text.

Nor are you limited to viewing texts. You can also search them (keeping in mind that not all songs in either the Ballad Index or the Roud Index have SuppTrad entries; most do not). To search the SuppTrad, click on the button on the detail page that says "Search Songs."

Brave Wolfe [Laws A1]	Font Size: 11
NAME: Brave Wolfe [Laws A1] DESCRIPTION: Disappointed in love, Wolfe gives his beloved a ring and leaves her. He lands at Quebec to battle the French. Wolfe is mortally wounded, but when he learns that a British victory is assured, he says, "I die with pleasure."	Quick Find
AUTHOR: unknown EARLIEST DATE: 1759 (broadside) KEYWORDS: death war courting battle separation Canada	Find by Field
FOUND IN: US(Ap,MA,NE,SE,So) Canada(Newf,Mar) Britain(England(South)) HISTORICAL REFERENCES: 1727-1759 - Life of General James Wolfe, British commander at the Battle of Quebec	Find Anywhere (slow)
1754-1763 - French and Indian War (in Europe, the Seven Years' War, fought 1756-1763) Sept 13, 1759 - Battle of Quebec. Wolfe and Montcalm killed. REFERENCES (25 citations):	Search Songs
Laws A1, "Brave Wolfe" Randolph 664, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Flanders/Olney, pp. 120-122, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	Print
The second is the Green Mountain Songster version)	Сору
Friedman, p. 288, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) Friedman, p. 288, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text)	This song has
Foundation and the second seco	associated text(s)
Fowke/MillsBlume, pp. 46-49, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Mackenzie 75, "Quebec" (1 text)	Show Song Text
Warner 21, The Bailad of Montcaim and Woite" (1 text, 1 tune) Warner-Eastern, pp. 63-64, The Bailad of Montcaim and Woite" (1 text) Scott-BoA, pp. 36-38, "The Death of General Woite" (1 text, 1 tune) Combs/Wilgus 43, pp. 153-155, "Brave Woife" (1 text)	
Lomax-FSUSA 36, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Lomax-FSNA 16, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) DallasCruel, pp. 123-124," Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	Show Song List
Darling-NAS, pp. 156-157, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) Darling-NAS, pp. 156-157, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) Cf. Gardner/Chickering, p. 478, "Brave Wolfe" (source notes only) DT 358, BRAVWOLF" BRVEWLF2*	Show Roud Folk Song List
Houd #961 [59 Roud entries] RECORDINGS (Total of 1): Freeman Bennett, "Bold Wolfe" (on PeacockCDROM) [one verse only]	Show Roud Broadside List
BROADSIDES: LOCSinging, as111310, "General Wolfe" ("Cheer up your hearts, young men, let nothing fright you"), Leonard Deming (Boston), 19C; also as102840, "The Death of General Wolf"	Find by Field
CROSS-REFERENCES: cf. "The Blacksmith" (tune & meter) cf. "The Dark-Eyed Sailor (Fair Phoebe and her Dark-Eyed Sailor)" [Laws N35] (tune)	Quit Help
cf. "General Wolfe" (subject) cf. "How Stands the Glass Around (General <u>Wolfe's</u> Song)" (attributed to <u>Wolfe</u> ) SAME TUNE:	Rescue Me!
The Blacksmith (File: K146) NOTES: [3402 words] When William Pitt the Elder came became Britain's Prime Minister in 1757 (the first man ever to hold that title, which was coined because there was no real cabinet role for him otherwise), he decided that the army newly involved in the Seven Years' War (known in the American colonies as the French and Indian War) needed a good dose of youthful energy. In 1755-1756, British	Ballad Index Reference List

Let's say you remember a song about "keys," but have no idea what it was. So try searching for "keys." Clicking the "Search Songs" button will give you this data entry form:

#### Search the Supplemental Tradition

Enter words or phrases to se	ek:	
keys		
Show Song List	Search	
Find by Field Quit	Help	Rescue Me!

Clicking the "Search" button will do the search and locate the following:

Reference #	Ballad Name
(Show) R578	London Bridge Is Falling Down
Show) CrSNB092	My Name is Edward Gallovan
To view a song, click	on it then
press the Show Tex	button > Snow lext
	Find by Field in Ballad Index Quit Help Rescue Me!

As usual, you can select a song by clicking on it. Then tap the "Show Text" button to see it. Let's say you picked "London Bridge is Falling Down":

London I	Bridge Is Falling Down			Show BI	
R578	Full Text:  YON	Сору	Speak	Entry	Continue
	*** A ***	Dimensional Maria			
From W. W #150, the Savannah. hearing in I have ex Newell ab	. Newell, Games and Songs of American C "E" text, pp. 209-210. From "the conver "This is the form most similar to what a my childhood, though it is longer than anded the first stanzas to show the pr previates in this text (having supplied	hildren, item nt-school of I seem to recall n what I remember. oper form, which it for other texts).			
London br. Fallin London br. My fai:	idge is falling down, y down, falling down, idge is falling down, r lady!				
How shall Up aga How shall My fai:	we build it up again? in, up again, we build it up again? r lady!				
Build it	up with lime and stone				
Stone and	lime would wash away				
Build it	up with iron bars				
Iron bars	would bend and break				
Build it	up with gold and silver				
Gold and	silver would be stole away				
Get a wat	ch to watch all night				
Suppose t	he watch should fall asleep?				
Get him a	pipe to smoke at night				
Suppose th	he pipe should fall and break?				
Get a dog	to bark all night				

You can use the "Continue" button to go back to wherever you were (usually the song list), or you can use "Show BI Entry" to see the Ballad Index entry for this song.

# The Ballad Index Bibliography/Reference List

If you've looked at the song lists in the Ballad Index enough, you'll have noticed a lot of short abbreviations for books and records. If you know your folk music collections well enough, most of these will probably be familiar. But if some are not, you can always consult the Ballad Index Bibliography. You can access it from either the opening screen or from the detail page by clicking the "Ballad Index Bibliography" button:

The Traditional Ballad Index version 5.3a build 10.21.2020 and The Folk Song Index and Broadside Index by Steve Roud version 118 (2020) The Traditional Ballad Index copyright ©2020 by Robert B. Waltz and David G. Engle. Steve Roud's Folk Song Index and Broadside Index copyright ©2020 by Steve Roud. All rights reserved. The Traditional Ballad Index is a database of folk songs of the English-speaking world. This program allows you to search for, display, and print information about these songs. The Ballad Index is primarily a bibliography, consisting of a list of references containing copies of songs. But it also contains some information about the songs - a brief description of the plot, information about the author, historical background information (we believe that, overall, this is the best historical reference in existence for English-language folksongs), and other material. Some of the more important "fields" of the Ballad Index database include the following: Ballad Title: The standard title we use for the ballad. This is the official designation of the song. Description: A brief description of the "plot" of the song. Author (if known to us; most songs in the Index are listed as having an "unknown" author) Earliest date: The earliest date at which we could guarantee that the ballad was in circulation Keywords: A list of code words designed to facilitate searching. Historical References: This lists the dates on which events in the song took place. Found In: Areas where the song has been collected, broken down by region. References: The list of books containing the song. Recordings: A list of recordings containing the song. Cross References: Songs which bear some limited relationship to the song. Same Tune: A list of songs, parodies, broadsides which use the same melody as current song. Alternate Titles: Other titles used for the song, should these not be found in the References. Notes: Anything not covered under the previous categories. Roud Number: The number assigned to this song in Steve Roud's folk song index. For more information, see the fuller descriptions in the HTML documentation or the Ballad Index installation manual. Please note: You should not need to use the menus in this program. Use the buttons to navigate the Index. Click on one Ballad Index of the buttons Keyword List About Search Tips Reference for more help: List Go to Show Roud Folk Index Song List Find by Field Help Quit **Rescue Mel** Show Roud **Broadside List** 

or

Brave Wolfe [Laws A1]	Font Size: 11
NAME: Brave Wolfe [Laws A1] DESCRIPTION: Disappointed in love, Wolfe gives his beloved a ring and leaves her. He lands at Quebec to battle the French. Wolfe is mortally wounded, but when he learns that a British victory is assured, he says, "I die with pleasure."	Quick Find
AUTHOR: unknown EARLIEST DATE: 1759 (broadside) KEYWORDS: death war courting battle senaration Canada	Find by Field
FOUND IN: US(Ap, MA, NE, SE, SO) Canada (New, Mar) Britain(England(South)) HISTORICAL REFERENCES:	Find Anywhere (slow)
1727-1759 - Life of General James Wolfe, British commander at the Battle of Quebec 1754-1763 - French and Indian War (in Europe, the Seven Years' War, fought 1756-1763) Sent 13 - 1759 - Battle of Quebec, Wolfe and Montrealm killed	
Laws A1, "Brave Wolfe"	Search Songs
Randolph 664, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Flanders/Olney, pp. 120-122, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Flanders/Brown, pp. 55-57, "Brave Wolfe/General Wolfe" (2 texts, 1 tune; the first text is in half-stanzas and does not use the "Blacksmith" tune; the second is the Green Mountain Songster version)	Print
Thompson-Pioneer 43, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) ThompsonNew York, pp. 323-324, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text)	Сору
Friedman, p. 288, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) Greenleat/Mansfield 44, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Peacock, pp. 986-987, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	This song has associated text(s)
Fowke/Johnston, pp. 21-23, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Fowke/MacMillan 2, "Bold Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Fowke/Mills/Blume, pp. 46-49, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Mackenzie 75, "Ouebec" (1 text)	Show Song Text
Warner 21, "The Ballad of Montcalm and Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Warner-Eastern, pp. 63-64, "The Ballad of Montcalm and Wolfe" (1 text) Scott-BoA, pp. 36-38, "The Death of General Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Combs/Wilgus 43, pp. 153-155, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text)	
Lomax-FSUSA 36, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) Lomax-FSNA 16, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune) DallasCruel, pp. 123-124, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text, 1 tune)	Show Song List
Darling-NAS, pp. 156-157, "Brave Wolfe" (1 text) cf. Gardner/Chickering, p. 478, "Brave Wolfe" (source notes only) DT 358, BRAVWOLF" BRVEWLF2*	Show Roud Folk Song List
Houd #961 [59 Roud entries] RECORDINGS (Total of 1): Freeman Bennett, "Bold Wolfe" (on PeacockCDROM) [one verse only]	Show Roud Broadside List
BROADSIDES: LOCSinging, as111310, "General Wolfe" ("Cheer up your hearts, young men, let nothing fright you"), Leonard Deming (Boston), 19C; also as102840, "The Death of General Wolf"	Find by Field
cf. "The Blacksmith" (tune & meter) cf. "The Dark-Eyed Sailor (Fair Phoebe and her Dark-Eyed Sailor)" [Laws N35] (tune) cf. "General Wolfe" (subject)	Quit Help
SAME TUNE:	Rescue Me!
(The Blacksmith (File: K146) NOTES: [3402 words] When William Pitt the Elder came became Britain's Prime Minister in 1757 (the first man ever to hold that title, which was coined because there was no real cabinet role for him otherwise), he decided that the army newly involved in the Seven Years' War (known in the American colonies as the French and Indian War) needed a good dose of youthful energy. In 1755-1756, British	Ballad Index Reference List

Clicking either button opens the References file:

#### The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

Font Size 11	~	Show Books Show	Recordings Sho	w Manuscripts	Show	v Everything			
To look at an i or select and t Show Details	tem ap t but	tap it he Show Details ton >	Sort b Abbrevia	y Sort by Author+Nam	e Quick Fir Find Anyw	nd Go To here Ballad Index	Quit		
Show Songs	R	AlmanacCD1: Almanac Singers, Th	e Complete General Re	cordings. Discographic o	data — MCA MCAD-1	1499 (CD, 1996). This re	acord		
Show Songs	R	Almanac04: Almanac Singers, Talk	ing Union. Discographic	data — 78s: Keynote 10	06 (rec. May, 1941). F	Reissued on PeteSeeger	01		
Show Songs	R	Almanac03: Almanac Singers, The	Soil and the Sea. Discog	graphic data — Fontana	Mainstream TL-5299	(LP, 1964). This record			
Show Songs	R	Almanac02: Almanac Singers, Dee	p Sea Chanteys. Discog	raphic data — General F	Records (78 album, 1	941)=Commodore BA-21	(LP, c.		
Show Songs	R	Almanac01: Almanac Singers, Sod	Buster Ballads. Discogra	aphic data — General R	ecords (78 album, 19	41)=Commodore BA-20	(LP, c.		
Show Songs	в	Allen/Ware/Garrison: William Fran	cis Allen, Charles Pickar	d Ware, and Lucy McKir	m Garrison, Slave Sol	ngs of the United States			
Show Songs	R	AKStorm01: Arnold Keith Storm (of	Mooresville, Indiana), T	ake the News to Mother	(Folk-Legacy, 1964).	Discographic data — LP	: FSA		
Show Songs	R	AFS: Various artists, Field recording	from the Archive of Foll	Song (now the America	an Folklife Center), Li	brary of Congress			
Show Songs	в	AbrahamsRiddle: Roger D. Abraha	ims, Editor (with music e	ditor George Foss), A S	inger and Her Songs:	Almeda Riddle's Book o	f		
Show Songs	в	Abrahams/Foss: Roger D. Abrahar	ns & George Foss, Angl	o-American Folksong St	yle (Prentice-Hall, 19	68). Referenced by Page	. Fully		
Show Songs	в	Abrahams-WIShanties: Roger D. A	brahams, Deep the Wat	er, Shallow the Shore (U	University of Texas Pr	ress (Austin), 1974).			
Show Songs	в	Abernethy: Francis Edward Aberne	thy, Singin' Texas (Unive	ersity of North Texas Pre	ess, 1994). Reference	ed by Page. Fully indexed	d.		
Show Songs	в	AbbottFowkeEtAI: László Vikár an	d Jeanette Panagapka, S	Songs of the North Wood	ds: As Sung by O. J. J	Abbott and Collected by I	Edith		
Show Songs	в	Abbott1: O. J. Abbott, Irish and Brit	ish Songs from the Ottav	va Valley (Smithsonian/I	Folkways, 1957). Refe	erenced by . Fully indexe	d.		
Show Songs	в	Abbot/Swan-8Negro: Francis H. Al	obot, collector; Alfred J. S	Swan, editor, Eight Negr	ro Songs (from Bedfo	rd Co., Virginia) (Enoch a	ind		
Show Songs	R	AFM3: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 3) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as							
Show Songs	R	AAFM2: Various artists (Harry Smith	n, editor), Anthology of A	merican Folk Music (vol	<i>lume 2)</i> (1952). Disco	graphic data — 3 CDs, li	sted as		
Show Songs	R	AAFM1: Various artists (Harry Smith	n, editor), Anthology of A	merican Folk Music (vol	<i>lume 1)</i> (1952). Disco	graphic data — 3 CDs, li	sted as		

This shows the list of reference materials, plus buttons The list has three parts. One is the "Show Songs" button, which we'll get to later. Then there's a column for the reference type, then the reference itself.

There are four types of reference, only two of which appear here. The two types shown here are Books and Recordings. Books are marked by a brown B on a white background, **B**. Recordings show a green G on a pale green background, **R**. Manuscripts, of which there are a few dozen cataloged, are shown with a reddish-brown M on a pink background, **M**. And journals, of which there are very few indeed, show a brown J on a brown background, **J**.

The next column, which takes up most of the screen shows the abbreviation of the references in **bold**, then the list of authors, title, publisher, etc. Selecting a book (e.g., Abernethy) will show you more. Often this will show you all you need to know, e.g. here is the expanded information for Abernethy:

Show Songs	в	Abbott1: O. J. Abbott, Irish and British Songs from the Ottawa Valley (Smithsonian/Folkways, 1957). Referenced by . Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	AbbottFowkeEtAI: László Vikár and Jeanette Panagapka, Songs of the North Woods: As Sung by O. J. Abbott and Collected by Edith
Show Songs	в	Abernethy: Francis Edward Abernethy, Singin' Texas (University of North Texas Press, 1994). Referenced by Page. Fully indexed.
Show Songs E	в	Roud Data: : X6908 Abernethy, Francis Edward, Singin' Texas (Denton, TX: Univ of N. Texas Pr, 1994)
Show Songs	в	Abrahams/Foss: Roger D. Abrahams & George Foss, Anglo-American Folksong Style (Prentice-Hall, 1968). Referenced by Page. Fully

But if that's not enough, you can see more by picking a reference and then clicking "Show Details" will give you a full description of the reference. Let's look at one for a book and one for a recording:

### The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

					Boo	k				
Book Information	on: Abb	previation	Abernethy							
Author(s)	Francis Edward Abernethy									
Book Name	Singin' Texas									
Publisher	University of North Texas Press									
Publication Year	1994		Short A	Author	Abernethy			Roud ID	X6908	}
ndexing Informa	tion:					Pages:	183	Indexed by Page or Numb	er: by	Page
Indexer	Robert B	. Waltz					bala a			
ully Or Partially Inc	dexed:	Fully						Added In Version	4.5	
Notes										
	]									
Quick Find	F	ind Anywher	B	Show	List			Go To		
Find Ballad Index Records for Book		Find Roud Index Songs		Find Roud Broadsides		Ballad Index				
					Recor	ding				
Record Informa	ation:	Abbrevia	tion BLLuns	ford01						
Performers	Bascom	Lamar Lunsf	ord							
Recording Name	Ballads,	Banjo Tunes	, and Sacred S	Songs of	f Western North C	arolina				
Publisher	Smithso	nian/Folkway	s							
Publication Year	1996		Sort	Inder	Lunsford			Roud ID	X4544	l .
Discographic data	CD: Smi	thsonian/Fol	kways 40082 (	1996).		1.				
ndexing Informa	ition — I	ndexer:	Robert B. Wa	iltz						
ully Or Partially Inc	dexed:	Fully						Added In Version		
Notes	With lyrid	cs and histori	cal notes (the	latter be	ing mostly transc	ribed from Lu	unsford's na	arrations		
BLLunsford01: E data — CD: Smith Note: With lyrics a Roud Data: : X45 40082 (1996)	Bascom La hsonian/Fo and historic 544 Luns	mar Lunsford Ikways 4008 al notes (the ford, Bascon	l, Ballads, Ban, 2 (1996) Fully latter being m n Lamar, <b>Balla</b>	io Tunes r indexe ostly tra ds, Ban	s, and Sacred So d. Indexed by Ro Inscribed from Lu <b>jo Tunes and Sa</b>	ngs of Weste bert B. Waltz hsford's narra icred Songs	ations. of Wester	<i>arolina</i> (Smithsonian/Folkways, <sup>.</sup> 	1996). E Folkway	Discographic s SF CD
Quick Find	F	ind Anywher	e	Show	List			Go To		
Find Ballad Index Records for Item		Find Roud Index Songs		Find R Broads	toud sides			Ballad Index		

The banner at the top of course tells you what sort of item it is that has been indexed. Books, journals, and manuscripts are catalogued in the "References" field; "Recordings" have their own field (for long-playing recordings. 78 RPM recordings are not included in the Bibliography, because they are so short. Broadsides, which also have their own database field, aren't referenced either, and for the same reason).

You'll note that, in addition to describing the reference source, we have a series of buttons at the bottom. "Go To Ballad Index" just takes you to the Ballad Index main page. "Show List" returns you to the list of references. The bottom three buttons are intended to help you find things:

• Clicking "Show Ballad Index Records for Book" or its equivalent "Show Ballad Index Records for Item" will go to the Ballad Index and pull up all the songs in the Ballad Index found in this book or on this recording (with some minor glitches involving books with almost the same name)

• "Find Roud Index Songs," if it's enabled (meaning that this song is in the Roud Index bibliography) will launch the Roud Folk Song Index and perform an equivalent find, showing all records in the Folk Song Index which are found in this reference. Note: This isn't guaranteed to find anything; there are items in the Roud Index bibliography which are simply there to record the existence of the book

• "Find Roud Broadsides" is equivalent to "Find Roud Index Songs," except that it searches the Roud Broadside Index. Again, there is no guarantee that it will find anything.

You can also find the songs in the Ballad Index which are in this book by clicking the "Show Songs" button on the list of books.

The other two buttons are "Find" buttons, the "Quick Find" and "Find Anywhere" buttons. These do the same things as the equivalent buttons on the main bibliography page, so let's go back there (by using the "Show List" button). Let's start with a Quick Find:

#### The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

Show Songs	R	AAFM1: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 1) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	R	AAFM2: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 2) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	R	AAFM3: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 3) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	в	Abbot/Swan-8Negro: Francis H. Abbot, collector; Alfred J. Swan, editor, Eight Negro Songs (from Bedford Co., Virginia) (Enoch and
Show Songs	в	Abbott1: O. J. Abbott, Irish and British Songs from the Ottawa Valley (Smithsonian/Folkways, 1957). Referenced by . Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	AbbottFowkeEtAI: László Vikár and Jeanette Panagapka, Songs of the North Woods: As Sung by O. J. Abbott and Collected by Edith
Show Songs	в	Abernethy: Francis Edward Abernethy, Singin' Texas (University of North Texas Press, 1994). Referenced by Page. Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	Abrahams-WIShanties: Roger D. Abrahams, Deep the Water, Shallow the Shore (University of Texas Press (Austin), 1974).
Show Songs	в	Abrahams/Foss: Roger D. Abrahams & George Foss, Anglo-American Folksong Style (Prentice-Hall, 1968). Referenced by Page. Fully
Show Songs	в	AbrahamsRiddle: Roger D. Abrahams, Editor (with music editor George Foss), A Singer and Her Songs: Almeda Riddle's Book of
Show Songs	R	AFS: Various artists, Field recording from the Archive of Folk Song (now the American Folklife Center), Library of Congress.
Show Songs	R	AKStorm01: Arnold Keith Storm (of Mooresville, Indiana), Take the News to Mother (Folk-Legacy, 1964). Discographic data — LP: FSA
Show Songs	в	Allen/Ware/Garrison: William Francis Allen, Charles Pickard Ware, and Lucy McKim Garrison, Slave Songs of the United States
Show Songs	R	Almanac01: Almanac Singers, Sod Buster Ballads. Discographic data — General Records (78 album, 1941)=Commodore BA-20 (LP, c.
Show Songs	R	Almanac02: Almanac Singers, Deep Sea Chanteys. Discographic data — General Records (78 album, 1941)=Commodore BA-21 (LP, c.
Show Songs	R	Almanac03: Almanac Singers, The Soil and the Sea. Discographic data — Fontana Mainstream TL-5299 (LP, 1964). This record
Show Songs	R	Almanac04: Almanac Singers, Talking Union. Discographic data — 78s: Keynote 106 (rec. May, 1941). Reissued on PeteSeeger01
Show Songs	R	AlmanacCD1: Almanac Singers, The Complete General Recordings. Discographic data — MCA MCAD-11499 (CD, 1996). This record
To look at an i or select and i Show Details	tem ap t but	, tap it he Show Details Sort by ton > Sort by Abbreviation Sort by Author+Name Quick Find Anywhere Ballad Index Quit
Font Size 11	~	Show Books         Show Recordings         Show Manuscripts         Show Everything

That will get you a Quick Find window, which will let you search for the item abbreviation (e.g. Child, Laws, Allen/Ware/Garrison), the author names (e.g. Ware, Abernethy, Eddy), or the title of the book or record (e.g. "English and Scottish Popular Ballads," or part of that, such as "Scottish popul balla").

	C				Quick	Find				
		Enter s	ome wo	rds to desc	ribe th	e song	you ar	e seeki	ng:	
		Item At	obreviat	ion						1
		Author	(s)							
		Item Ti	tle							
						Ca	ncel		Find	
If you want	to s	earch for	somethir	ng more com	olicated	use "F	ind Any	where":		
Show Songs	R	AAFM1: Vari	ous artists (H	arry Smith, editor), A	nthology of	American I	olk Music (v	olume 1) (19	952). Discographic	data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	R	AAFM2: Vari	ous artists (H	arry Smith, editor), A	nthology of	American I	olk Music (v	olume 2) (19	952). Discographic	data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	R	AAFM3: Vari	ous artists (H	arry Smith, editor), A	nthology of	American I	Folk Music (v	olume 3) (19	952). Discographic	data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	в	Abbot/Swan	-8Negro: Fra	ncis H. Abbot, collec	tor; Alfred J	Swan, edi	tor, Eight Ne	gro Songs (f	rom Bedford Co.,	Virginia) (Enoch and
Show Songs	в	Abbott1: O.	J. Abbott, Irisi	h and British Songs	from the Ott	awa Valley	(Smithsoniar	/Folkways,	1957). Referenced	by . Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	AbbottFowk	eEtAI: László	Vikár and Jeanette	Panagapka	Songs of t	he North Wo	ods: As Sun	g by O. J. Abbott a	and Collected by Edith
Show Songs	в	Abernethy: F	rancis Edwa	rd Abernethy, Singin	' Texas (Uni	versity of N	orth Texas P	Press, 1994).	Referenced by Pa	age. Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	Abrahams-W	/IShanties: R	loger D. Abrahams,	Deep the W	ater, Shallo	w the Shore	(University of	of Texas Press (Au	ustin), 1974).
Show Songs	в	Abrahams/F	oss: Roger D	. Abrahams & Georg	je Foss, An	glo-America	n Folksong	Style (Prenti	ce-Hall, 1968). Re	ferenced by Page. Fully
Show Songs	в	AbrahamsRi	ddle: Roger I	D. Abrahams, Editor	(with music	editor Geo	rge Foss), A	Singer and I	Her Songs: Almed	a Riddle's Book of
Show Songs	R	AFS: Various	artists, Field	recording from the	Archive of Fo	olk Song (n	ow the Amen	ican Folklife	Center), Library of	f Congress
Show Songs	R	AKStorm01:	Arnold Keith	Storm (of Mooresvill	e, Indiana),	Take the N	ews to Mothe	er (Folk-Lega	acy, 1964). Discog	raphic data — LP: FSA
Show Songs	в	Allen/Ware/G	Barrison: Will	iam Francis Allen, C	harles Picka	ard Ware, a	nd Lucy Mck	(im Garrison	, Slave Songs of t	he United States
Show Songs	R	Almanac01:	Almanac Sing	gers, Sod Buster Bal	lads. Discog	raphic data	— General	Records (78	album, 1941)=Co	mmodore BA-20 (LP, c.
Show Songs	R	Almanac02:	Almanac Sing	gers, Deep Sea Cha	nteys. Disco	graphic dat	a — Genera	Records (7	8 album, 1941)=C	ommodore BA-21 (LP, c
Show Songs	R	Almanac03:	Almanac Sing	gers, The Soil and th	e Sea. Disc	ographic da	ita — Fontan	a Mainstrea	m TL-5299 (LP, 19	964). This record
Show Songs	R	Almanac04:	Almanac Sing	gers, Talking Union.	Discographi	c data — 7	8s: Keynote	106 (rec. Ma	y, 1941). Reissue	d on PeteSeeger01
Show Songs	R	AlmanacCD1	I: Almanac Si	ngers, The Complet	e General R	ecordings.	Discographic	data — MC	A MCAD-11499 (	CD, 1996). This record
To look at an i or select and t Show Details	tap the butte	tap it ne on >	Show	Details	Sort Abbrevi	by ation A	Sort by uthor+Nar	ne Quicl Find	k Find Anywhere	Go To Ballad Index
Font Size 11	~	Show B	ooks	Show Recordin	gs Sł	iow Manu	scripts		Show Every	ything

Search All Fields	
Or search by	/ particular fields:
O BOOK O JOU	
Abbreviation	Q
Authors/Performers	٩
Item Name/Title	Q
Publication Year	Q.:
Indexer	Q.
Library	Q
Catalog Number	Q
Recording Data	٩
Publisher	٩
Added In Version	٩
Item Notes	٩
	Search Cancel

This gives you a more complicated search form:

Observe that, on this particular form, you can either search everything, or you can search particular fields, or you can search both. In this case, searching everything is fairly fast. You might want to use the All Fields search, for instance, if you're looking for something by "Arkansas Woodchopper" if you aren't sure if that's the performer name or the album name.

You can search all types of bibliographic entries, or you can choose one by selecting "Book," "Journal," "Manuscript," or "Recording." Simply click one of the buttons to search a particular type of reference, or *don't* click to search them all.

If you do choose a particular type, certain fields will be disabled. For instance, "Library" and "Catalog Number" are specific to manuscripts; they will fade out if you choose "Book," "Journal," or "Recording." "Recording data" is specific to sound recordings and will fade out if you choose "Book," "Journal," or "Manuscript." Manuscripts don't have an "Item Name" as such; if they are commonly called by a particular title, it will be in the catalog number. The other fields, "Abbreviation," "Authors/Performers," "Indexer," "Added in Version," and "Item Notes," apply to all reference types.

This is probably self-explanatory, so let's instead go back to the main bibliography list and explain a few of the other buttons:

#### The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

Font Size 11	~	Show Books         Show Recordings         Show Manuscripts         Show Everything
or select and t	ap t but	he Show Details Sort by Abbreviation Sort by Author+Name Find Anywhere Ballad Index Quit
Show Songs	R	AlmanacCD1: Almanac Singers, The Complete General Recordings. Discographic data — MCA MCAD-11499 (CD, 1996). This record
Show Songs	R	Almanac04: Almanac Singers, Talking Union. Discographic data — 78s: Keynote 106 (rec. May, 1941). Reissued on PeteSeeger01
Show Songs	R	Almanac03: Almanac Singers, The Soil and the Sea. Discographic data — Fontana Mainstream TL-5299 (LP, 1964). This record
Show Songs	R	Almanac02: Almanac Singers, Deep Sea Chanteys. Discographic data — General Records (78 album, 1941)=Commodore BA-21 (LP, c.
Show Songs	R	Almanac01: Almanac Singers, Sod Buster Ballads. Discographic data — General Records (78 album, 1941)=Commodore BA-20 (LP, c.
Show Songs	в	Allen/Ware/Garrison: William Francis Allen, Charles Pickard Ware, and Lucy McKim Garrison, Slave Songs of the United States
Show Songs	R	AKStorm01: Arnold Keith Storm (of Mooresville, Indiana), Take the News to Mother (Folk-Legacy, 1964). Discographic data — LP: FSA
Show Songs	R	AFS: Various artists, Field recording from the Archive of Folk Song (now the American Folklife Center), Library of Congress.
Show Songs	в	AbrahamsRiddle: Roger D. Abrahams, Editor (with music editor George Foss), A Singer and Her Songs: Almeda Riddle's Book of
Show Songs	в	Abrahams/Foss: Roger D. Abrahams & George Foss, Anglo-American Folksong Style (Prentice-Hall, 1968). Referenced by Page. Fully
Show Songs	в	Abrahams-WIShanties: Roger D. Abrahams, Deep the Water, Shallow the Shore (University of Texas Press (Austin), 1974).
Show Songs	в	Abernethy: Francis Edward Abernethy, Singin' Texas (University of North Texas Press, 1994). Referenced by Page. Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	AbbottFowkeEtAI: László Vikár and Jeanette Panagapka, Songs of the North Woods: As Sung by O. J. Abbott and Collected by Edith
Show Songs	в	Abbott1: O. J. Abbott, Irish and British Songs from the Ottawa Valley (Smithsonian/Folkways, 1957). Referenced by . Fully indexed.
Show Songs	в	Abbot/Swan-8Negro: Francis H. Abbot, collector; Alfred J. Swan, editor, Eight Negro Songs (from Bedford Co., Virginia) (Enoch and
Show Songs	R	AAFM3: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 3) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	R	AAFM2: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 2) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as
Show Songs	R	AAFM1: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Anthology of American Folk Music (volume 1) (1952). Discographic data — 3 CDs, listed as

Most of the time, the most useful button here may be the "Show Songs" button to the left of each reference. If you click one of these buttons, the Bibliography will open the Ballad Index database and show you all songs which have a reference for that book. Suppose, for example, that you clicked the button by "AKStorm01," i.e. the Folk-Legacy recording featuring Arnold Keith Storm. The Ballad Index would open and you would see this list, which reveals the seven songs from this partially indexed album which are included in the database:

7 SONG records TITLE	Click for DESCRIPTION	Click for REFERENCES	Click for ROUD REFS	Click for NOTES
Show Blind Child, The	Descrip	24 Refs	Roud # 425	Notes
Show Dream of the Miner's Child, The	Descrip	14 Refs	Roud # 2334	Notes
Show Little Joe the Wrangler [Laws B5]	Descrip	19 Refs	Roud # 1930	Notes
Show Little Rosewood Casket	Descrip	37 Refs	Roud # 426	Notes
Show My Mother Was a Lady	Descrip	16 Refs	Roud # 2982	Notes
Show Poor Little Joe (The Dying Newsboy)	Descrip	12 Refs	Roud # 3111	Notes
Show Utah Carroll [Laws B4]	Descrip	24 Refs	Roud # 1929	Notes
To look at a song, tap it then tap the Show Details button Show Details Sort by Name Sort by Name Provide the Show Details Sort by Name Provide th	Sort by opularity Fir	ck Find by Field	Quit Help	Rescue Me!

You can view these as you would any other list of songs in the Index. So let's go back to the remaining features of the Bibliography — the buttons at the bottom of the list screen:

Show Songs	R	AAFM1: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Ar	nthology of Americar	n Folk Music (volun	ne 1) (1952)	. Discographic	data — 3 CDs, lis	sted as
Show Songs	R	AAFM2: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Ar	nthology of Americar	n Folk Music (volun	ne 2) (1952)	. Discographic	data — 3 CDs, lis	sted as
Show Songs	R	AAFM3: Various artists (Harry Smith, editor), Ar	nthology of America	n Folk Music (volun	ne 3) (1952)	. Discographic	data — 3 CDs, lis	sted as
Show Songs	в	Abbot/Swan-8Negro: Francis H. Abbot, collected	or; Alfred J. Swan, e	ditor, Eight Negro	Songs (from	Bedford Co.,	Virginia) (Enoch a	nd
Show Songs	в	Abbott1: O. J. Abbott, Irish and British Songs fr	rom the Ottawa Valle	y (Smithsonian/Fo	lkways, 195	7). Referenced	by . Fully indexed	d.
Show Songs	в	AbbottFowkeEtAI: László Vikár and Jeanette F	<sup>o</sup> anagapka, Songs o	f the North Woods:	As Sung b	y O. J. Abbott a	and Collected by E	Edith
Show Songs	в	Abernethy: Francis Edward Abernethy, Singin'	Texas (University of	North Texas Press	s, 1994). Re	ferenced by Pa	age. Fully indexed	I.
Show Songs	в	Abrahams-WIShanties: Roger D. Abrahams, D	Deep the Water, Sha	llow the Shore (Un	iversity of T	exas Press (Au	ustin), 1974).	
Show Songs	в	Abrahams/Foss: Roger D. Abrahams & George	e Foss, Anglo-Ameri	ican Folksong Style	e (Prentice-ł	lall, 1968). Re	ferenced by Page	. Fully
Show Songs	в	AbrahamsRiddle: Roger D. Abrahams, Editor (	with music editor Ge	eorge Foss), A Sing	ger and Her	Songs: Almed	a Riddle's Book of	f
Show Songs	R	AFS: Various artists, Field recording from the A	rchive of Folk Song	(now the American	Folklife Ce	nter), Library oi	f Congress	
Show Songs	R	AKStorm01: Arnold Keith Storm (of Mooresville	, Indiana), Take the	News to Mother (F	olk-Legacy,	1964). Discog	raphic data — LP	: FSA
Show Songs	в	Allen/Ware/Garrison: William Francis Allen, Ch	narles Pickard Ware,	, and Lucy McKim (	Garrison, S/	ave Songs of t	he United States	
Show Songs	R	Almanac01: Almanac Singers, Sod Buster Balla	ads. Discographic da	ata — General Rec	ords (78 alb	oum, 1941)=Co	mmodore BA-20 (	(LP, c.
Show Songs	R	Almanac02: Almanac Singers, Deep Sea Chan	teys. Discographic d	lata — General Re	cords (78 al	bum, 1941)=C	ommodore BA-21	(LP, c.
Show Songs	R	Almanac03: Almanac Singers, The Soil and the	Sea. Discographic	data — Fontana M	ainstream T	L-5299 (LP, 19	964). This record	
Show Songs	R	Almanac04: Almanac Singers, Talking Union.	Discographic data —	78s: Keynote 106	(rec. May, 1	941). Reissue	d on PeteSeeger0	)1
Show Songs	R	AlmanacCD1: Almanac Singers, The Complete	General Recording	s. Discographic dat	a — MCA N	ICAD-11499 (	CD, 1996). This re	cord
To look at an i	tem	, tap it	Sort by	Sort by	Quick	Find	Go To	Quit
Show Details	ap ti butt	ton >	Abbreviation	Author+Name	Find	Anywhere	Ballad Index	Quit
Font Size 11	~	Show Books Show Recording	s Show Man	uscripts		Show Every	/thing	

The controls we're looking at the the "Font Size," "Show Books," "Show Recordings," "Show Manuscripts," and "Show Everything" buttons.

The Font Size just sets the size of the text in the list display. You can set it and forget it until you need to make the display larger or smaller.

Ordinarily, when you launch the Bibliography, it will show you everything — books, recordings, manuscripts, all of it, sorted based on the abbreviation. (You can change that by clicking the "Sort by Author+Name" button.) But you can choose to show just one type of item — books, recordings, or manuscripts — by clicking the appropriate button. If you want to show all of the items again, use the "Show Everything" button.

### **Advanced Searching**

Searching by title, or description, or keywords is all well and good when you know how everything is spelled — but what about all those Scots songs where you don't know whether "love" will be spelled "love" or "lo'e" or "loe"? Or whether it's "woe" or "wae"? Or if you can't remember whether someone will "run" or "ran"? There is a trick to deal with even this problem. It's called "wildcard searching," and FileMaker (the program that drives the Ballad Index) has an advanced set of wildcards.

Wildcard searching means, in essence, filling in the parts of a word that you know and putting in a symbol that says, "I don't know this part; take anything that fits." So "woe" and "wae" are, in effect, "w[wildcard]e" — you want to match the w and the e and take whatever comes in between.

If you've ever used wildcards at all, the one you've probably used is "\*" — which means "anything." That is, if you type in some text, and then a \*, FileMaker will find anything that starts with those letters. You can also use \* in the middle of a word. So, in FileMaker, "w\*e\* would find you "woe" (which is a w followed by anything followed by an e). It will also find you "wae," and "wipe," and "white," and "wise" — *anything* that starts with w and ends with e.

OK, so maybe you don't want that. You only want words that start with w and have *one* letter after that and then an e — in other words, "woe" and "wae" and "wee." To get that, you use the @ symbol. @ means any *single* character. So "w@e" will find, as we said, "wae," "wee," "woe," and other things such as "wue" (if that shows up somewhere).

Normally, when you type in some search words, the search finds anything that uses all those words *anywhere in the field*. For example, if you typed in "Abraham Lincoln" (or "Lincoln Abraham" or for that matter "Abr Linc," since FileMaker searches for the *beginnings* of words), FileMaker would find all references to "Abraham Lincoln," but it would also find "Abraham Jones lived near Lincoln, Nebraska." If you want to find the exact words "Abraham Lincoln," in that order, put them in (straight) quotes, i.e. "Abraham Lincoln" — with exactly one space. This will find only that exact phrase.

The table on the next page shows the primary wildcards used in FileMaker databases, and some examples of how they can be used.

Symbol	Meaning	Sample use	Finds				
		g*d	God, Gid, good, guard, gored, gold				
		go*d	God, goad, good, gored, gold				
*	Any text (zero or more characters	h*l*	hall, hill, hell, help, hello, Hilo, hollow, heels, health				
		6*	60, 61, 62, 63, <i>but also</i> 6A, 6B, 6\$, 666, 6gh6				
		6*6	66, 606, 616, 6006, 6A6, 6AA6,				
		g@d	God, Gid				
		g@@d	gaed, good, gold				
@	A single character	h@l@	hall, hill, hell, help, hello, Hilo, hollow, <i>but not</i> heels, health				
		6@	60, 61, 62, 63, <i>but also</i> 6A, 6B, 6\$				
		6@6	606, 616, 626, <i>but also</i> 6A6, 6\$6, <i>but not</i> 66 or 6116				
#		6#	60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69 <i>but not</i> 6A, 6\$				
	A digit	##	any number from 11 to 99 but nothing else				
		6#6	606, 616, 626, but not 66, 6A6, 6116				
"[text]"	the exact text between ""	"marched t"	"Sherman's March to the Sea" <i>but not</i> "Marching Through Georgia"; had you entered "march t" <i>without</i> the quote marks, you would have found both.				
==	exact match	==543 in the Roud # field	entry with the Roud number 543; anything else would find 543, 5431, 5432, etc.				
	value less than	<act< td=""><td>aardvark, absolute, academy, ace, but not acts, ads, balls, etc.</td></act<>	aardvark, absolute, academy, ace, but not acts, ads, balls, etc.				
		<40	in a numeric field, numbers less than 40				
>	greater than	(compare use of < above)					
or	range values between	4050	41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 56, 47, 48, 49				
		cace	cart, cat, CD, but not cot, cut, etc.				

### FileMaker Wildcard Examples

The most useful of the wildcards, at least for use with the Ballad Index, are probably \* and @. Note that you can use these in combination. Using "@" can be helpful for dealing, for instance, with verbs with various forms. For example, you can find both "run" and "ran" by using "r@n." "\*" can be more useful if you have to deal with verb endings. For example, "tak\*" would find "take" and "takes" and "taking" — and "tak'," if you're dealing with a Scottish text.

And you can combine the forms. For example, "g@ld\*" will find not only "gold" but also "golden" (since FileMaker searches for the beginnings of words) — and "gild" and "gilded" and "gilding." To be sure, it will also find "geld" and "gelding," which perhaps aren't as useful....

Observe that all Ballad Index searches are "and" searches. So if you search (say) titles for "G\*l V\*n," you will get "Golden Vanity," and also "Gilbert Pulls the Vine" (or you would, if there were such a song). You will not get "The Smashing of the Van" (because it contains a word which conforms to "V\*n" but not a word which conforms to "G\*l"); similarly, you will not get "The Golden Ball" (because it contains a word which conforms to "G\*l"); similarly, you will not get "V\*n").

Be very careful, if you want an exact match, to use the == form. If you were to type, say, "Walk with me," you would get "Walk with me," "Walking with me," and "Walking without me,"; typing "==Walk with me" will spare you all the "Walking."

# Information Found in the Ballad Index

This section describes the information found in the entries in the Ballad Index. Much of this information is also found in the online documentation. You should consult the web site for lists of book and recording abbreviations, which change over time; the information here refers primarily to "fixed" parts of the Index.

- **NAME**: The standard title by which we refer to the ballad. As far as we are concerned, this is *the* official designation of the song. All cross-references point to a title.
- **DESCRIPTION**: A brief description no more than 255 characters of the "plot" of the song. This will often quote lyrics, especially first lines, but this depends on the complexity of the plot. The purpose is to help you identify the song
- **LONG DESCRIPTION:** A fuller characterization of the song than is found in the Description. Only a few ballads have Long Descriptions.
- **AUTHOR:** The writer or composer (if known to us; most songs in the Index are listed as having an "unknown" author)
- **EARLIEST DATE:** The earliest date at which we could verify, from print or manuscript, that the ballad was in circulation; obviously this is subject to correction. With some exceptions, we also try to list *what* the source is that gives rise to this date. Some dates are approximate, and sometimes text and tune may have separate dates; there may be multiple entries in this field.
- **KEYWORDS**: A list of code words designed to facilitate searching; a list of keywords is found in the search forms. A screen shot of the current keywords list is found <u>here</u>.
- **HISTORICAL REFERENCES:** If a song has historical roots, this lists the dates on which events in the song took place. Observe that additional historical information may be found in the Notes; the HISTORICAL REFERENCES are intended primarily for items with precise dates.
- **FOUND IN:** Areas where the song has been collected, broken down by region. Locations have been abbreviated; a list of Place Abbreviations is found in the online notes.
- **REFERENCES**: The list of books containing the song (along with a count of how many books we have catalogued which have the song). This will include the number or page on which the song is found in the book, the title which this editor uses for it, and the number of texts and tunes included. In general we use numbers (e.g. Child 1, Laws A1, Randolph 663) if they are available; page numbers are offered if the book does not number its songs. Book titles are abbreviated; the abbreviations are explained in the online Bibliography.

At the end of the references field, you may find as many as three special references. The most common is the Roud #, which links to Steve Roud's Folk Song Index. For songs which have such a reference, find out more in the section on the Roud Folk Song Index.

Also common are DT references. These are items in the Digital Tradition, an online database of song texts. The items in the Digital Tradition are often not attributed, or attributed wrongly, and many have been messed with, but it's still a great song reference.

The third item applies mostly to songs not found in the Digital Tradition. This is the Supplemental Tradition, which gives we-hope-representative samples (usually a verse or two, but sometimes full texts or even critical collations) of songs. If a song is found in the Supplemental Tradition, it will have a line at the end of the references starting with the abbreviation ST. This is followed by a song code (the same code as the file number), and then an indication of whether the text is "(full),"

meaning that the ST entry contains at least one complete text of the song, or "(partial)," indicating that the entry contains only sample stanzas. Note that you can use the "Show Song Text" button to view the SuppTrad text, and that there will be a message informing you that the song has "associated text(s)." For additional information about the SuppTrad, see the section in this manual regarding the Supplemental Tradition.

- **ADDITIONAL:** Most important song collections receive an abbreviation, but books which contain only a few folk songs are cited as ADDITIONAL entries to save the work of looking them up. ADDITIONAL entries give the same text-and-tune information as main entries, but spell out the author and book title.
- MANUSCRIPT: Starting with version 5.3, we are citing source manuscripts e.g. the Percy Folio or Richard Hill's manuscript. Some manuscripts are frequently cited and have a bibliography reference e.g. {MSPercyFiolo}, with the brackets, is the Percy Folio; {MSRichardHill} is Richard Hill's manuscript; the full manuscript catalog number is also included. Thus, the Percy Folio citation for "The Child of Ell," its version of "Earl Brand" [Child 7] is "MANUSCRIPT: {MSPercyFolio}, The Percy Folio, London, British Library, MS. Additional 27879, page 57 ("The Child of Ell")." The Richard Hill citation of "The Corpus Christi Carol" is "MANUSCRIPT: {MSRichardHill}, The Richard Hill Manuscript, Oxford, Balliol College MS. 354, folio 165." Observe that we give the location in the manuscript, as a page or folio number. Note that most Middle English manuscripts have only folio numbers, not page numbers (folio numbers referring to both the recto and verso, that is, the front and the back of the page); because recto/verso citations are not very standardized, we don't cite recto and verso for foliated manuscripts.

Not every manuscript has an abbreviation; we normally don't create an abbreviation unless a manuscript is cited for at least three songs. We still give full catalog data for these manuscripts — e.g. the two manuscripts which contain "The Battle of Otterburn" [Child 161] are cited as follows:

MANUSCRIPT: London, British Library, MS. Harley 293, folio 52

MANUSCRIPT: London, British Library, MS. Cotton Cleopatra C.IV, folio 64

**RELATED:** Certain songs have links to other songs or poems or writings that are not close enough to consider them the same song but are too close to not list them together. For instance, the ballad "King Orfeo" [Child 19] is intimately related to the romance "Sir Orfeo"; the romance is the source of the ballad. But the ballad is not a reworking of the text of "Sir Orfeo"; it's merely another version of the same plot. So in the entry for "King Orfeo," there are references to this related material, with a "Related" reference, the first few items of which are shown below:

RELATED: Versions of the Romance "Sir Orfeo" --

A. J. Bliss, editor, Sir Orfeo, second edition, Oxford University Press, 1966, pp. 2-57, "Sir Orfeo" (3 texts, the texts of the three extant manuscripts, presenting a somewhat confusing set of parallel versions)

J. A. Burrow and Thorlac Turville-Petre, A Book of Middle English, second edition, 1996 (I cite the 1999 Blackwell paperback edition), pp. 112-131, "Sir Orfeo" (1 text, of 604 lines)

Note that this is not the same as the cross-references. Songs which are cross-referenced have some sort of similarity to the main song, but related items have a genetic sort of similarity.

• **RECORDINGS**: A list of recordings containing the song. 78s are listed by catalog number; LPs are listed by abbreviation. For details on the abbreviations, see the discography.

- **BROADSIDES**: Broadside (early single-sheet publications) of the song. There are thousands of these things; we don't try to list them all. Rather, we list broadsides located in sundry online catalogs, and hence viewable by all. For the addresses of the online catalogs, see the online documentation.
- **CROSS REFERENCES**: Songs which bear some limited relationship to the song. Not all songs mentioned in the cross-references are found in the Ballad Index (yet). We may try to explain the nature of the common feature e.g. "tune," "floating lyrics" but then again, we may not.
- **SAME TUNE**: A list of songs, parodies, broadsides which use the same melody as the song being discussed. Such songs may or may not be included in the Index. A very brief bibliographic note is given for each piece mentioned here e.g. the numbers in the Broadside Ballad Index are given for broadsides.
- **ALTERNATE TITLES**: Other titles by which the song is known. Note: Additional titles will be found in the References field; this field includes only titles not found elsewhere in the entry.
- **NOTES**: Anything not covered under the previous categories. The notes, unlike other Index items, are signed by the contributors, as they may in some instances be subjective. The initials of the contributors are listed in the Bibliography. The notes may be very extensive.
- **BIBLIOGRAPHY:** For songs with extensive NOTES or HISTORICAL REFERENCES, we may include a Bibliography to simplify citations. Normally a Bibliographic entry will have a short name which is used in the body of the notes.
- LAST UPDATED citation: Entries are updated over time; this information gives you a rough hint about how long it has been since the last update. If the Last Updated field is missing, it means that the entry has not been updated in the years since we implemented this system.
- The **FILE** reference: An internal cross-reference system. Although all songs have a unique FILE reference, they also have unique titles; we strongly urge that it should not be used as a "song number" of any sort.

# Information Found in Steve Roud's Folk Song Index and Broadside Index

This section describes the information found in the entries in the two Roud Indices. Fuller documentation is found at the VWL Library site; there is a link in the Index software itself. The list below is just a brief summary. If we examine a typical entry in one of the Roud indices, it looks like this:

Steve Roud	d's Broadside Index Copyright © by Steve	e Roud. All right	s reserved.			
TITLE1	DEATH OF GENERAL WOLF					
TITLE2					Quick S	Search
TUNE					Broadsid	le Index
FIRST	Cheer up your hearts young men let nothi	ng fright you		i i i		
TYPE	Broadside				Find By	Find
SOURCE	Library of Congress Collection of Song Sh	neets			Field	(slow!)
PREV	Facsimile on website [American Memory: Am	erica Singing]:				
PERF	[1] C. C. S. M. M. S. M. S. M. S. S. S. M. S. S. M. S. M S. M. S. M S. M. S. M. S				Chan C	and List
PLACE					Show St	ong List
DATE						
COLL		Shov	v Ballad		Canco	Eind
CONTENT	Text	inde	x Endy		Carice	I FIIIU
DATEADD	2070424	Elect this	Chaus David			
ROUD	961	Find this Roud #	Folk Songs		1100000	married and
OTHER	Laws A1	Roud #	T olik oorligo		First	Previous
SUBJECTS					Record	Necora
BS PRINT		Fields with cya	an background			
BS LOC	Library of Congress	search the fas	test.			
NOTES1					Next	Last
NOTES2					Record	Record
ROUDID	B132312					
BIBLIOGRAPHY REF(S)	X6052			Γ	Ouit	About
	Library Of Congress, <i>America Singing: Nine Sheets</i>	eteenth-Century S	Song	L	Quit	About
SCANNED						
URL	http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/amsshtml/	Show URL				

The fields on this form are:

- **TITLE1:** The primary name by which the song is known. Observe that this generally will *not* be the same as the Ballad Index Name; this is the name of this particular *version*, which rarely corresponds to the Ballad Index title.
- **TITLE2:** More title information, but rarely used.
- **TUNE:** The name assigned to the tune. This is most likely to be found in chapbooks and the like that have tune references but no actual music notation.
- **FIRST:** The first line of the song (usually listed for printed books, but not for recordings unless it is listed in the liner notes)
- **TYPE:** The format of the source, e.g. Book, Recording

- **SOURCE:** A short description of the source in which the version is found, along with the pages or other information the equivalent of a Ballad Index "Reference." Fuller bibliographic data can be found in the "BIBLIOGRAPHY REF(s)" below
- **PREV:** If this is filled in, it means that the version being cited was copied from some other source. So, for instance, if the citation is from Child's *English and Scottish Popular Ballads*, and Child's version comes from Herd, the SOURCE field will list Child, and the PREV field will list Herd.
- **PERF:** i.e. "performer," the person from whom this version was collected.
- **PLACE:** The place where the collection was made.
- **DATE:** The date on which the song was collected.
- **COLL:** The collectors, i.e. those who located or recorded the song.
- **CONTENT:** Information about what material is included in the collection. The basic parts are "Text" and "Music." If the text is incomplete (excerpted), this will be noted.
- **DATEADD:** Date on which the version was incorporated into the Roud Index. Note that these appear in the form YYMMDD.
- **ROUD:** One of the key features of the Roud database: The number Steve Roud assigns to keep versions of a song together. For example, Roud #961 is the song called "Brave Wolfe" in the Ballad Index; Roud #1 is "The Gypsy Laddie" [Child #200]. Roud numbers are also the "glue" that hold the Ballad Index and Roud Index together; the two do not always agree on song "boundaries," but the Roud Number lets us move from one database to the other.
- **OTHER:** Other common notations for this song, such as Child or Laws number.
- **SUBJECTS:** A finding aid. As you can see, the older records generally do not have these.
- **BS PRINT:** Broadside Print. Applies only to broadsides.
- **BS LOC:** Where the broadside is located.
- **NOTES1, NOTES2:** Just what they sound like. Observe that Roud notes, unlike Ballad Index notes, are short (and relatively rare).
- **ROUDID:** A catalog number for this individual collection (book, recording, whatever).
- **BIBLIOGRAPHY REFS:** The special code used to identify sources in the Roud bibliography. These are arbitrary numbers, but they lead to the bibliographic information which follows.
- URL: The web site where a copy of the item can be found. Not all records have URLs. They are probably more common for items in the Broadside Index. If there is a URL, the "Show URL" button will open a browser window to that site.

# **Appendix: Installation Instructions**

The Traditional Ballad Index software is available for PC/Windows, Macintosh, iPhone, and iPad. The software is almost the same in all three cases, but the appearance is slightly different on each platform (with the Macintosh and iPad versions being relatively alike and the PC version slightly more divergent). In addition, the method of installation differs on each machine. Consult the instructions below to learn how to install on a particular platform.

### Installing the Traditional Ballad Index on the iPhone and iPad

To run the Ballad Index on your iPhone and iPad, you will need to have FileMaker Go (version 14.0 or higher) installed. It's free; just go to the App Store, search for FileMaker Go, and install it.

Note: FileMaker Go ships with an assortment of sample databases. These aren't particularly useful, and may slow you down when you launch the Ballad Index. You can't do much with them anyway, since FileMaker Go isn't programmable. So you might want to delete them. It's your choice.

In addition to FileMaker Go, you will need the actual Ballad Index data files. These are combined in an archive called iPadBalladIndex.zip. Download this onto a computer (Mac or PC) and unZIP it (by double-clicking). This will will reveal six database files with the extension .fmp12. You need to install these Ballad Index files into FileMaker on your iPad. The most usual way to do this is to use iTunes.

To use the Ballad Index at all, you *must* install the file BalladIndex.fmp12
Although you don't absolutely have to, it is beneficial to install these five files as well: SONGINDEX.fmp12 (Steve Roud's catalog of song versions) BROADSIDEINDEX.fmp12 (Steve Roud's catalog of broadsides) Bibliography.fmp12 (the Ballad Index bibliography database) RoudBiblio.fmp12 (Steve Roud's bibliographic list) SuppTrad.fmp12 (the supplemental song texts included in the Ballad Index)

(If you wish to run the Roud indices without the Ballad Index, you can in fact do that, and start by launching the Roud indices rather than the Ballad Index; in that case, you need to install SONGINDEX, BROADSIDEINDEX, and RoudBiblio. But we're hoping you'll want the Ballad Index as well.)

The file BalladIndex.fmp12 is the actual Ballad Index, with the songs, references, notes, etc. The file SuppTrad.fmp12 contains texts of some of the songs in the Ballad Index; you can either search it for texts or use it to see texts of a particular song. SONGINDEX.fmp12 and BROADSIDEINDEX.fmp12 are very large files (over 100 MB) containing many tens of thousands of instances of songs collected and cataloged by Steve Roud; they are not properly a part of the Ballad Index, but can be used to look up information about song texts. RoudBiblio.fmp12 gives detailed bibliographic information about the sources Steve Roud cites.

**NOTE:** The way to install files into an iOS device has changed several times, most recently with Mac OS X Catalina. We have not had time to test how this is done using the Files app. The following instructions are based on older versions of OS X and iTunes. Most of the details will be the same in Catalina, but you will need to use Files instead of iTunes. And we can only show the instructions for one version of iTunes. (The sheer awfulness of what follows is why Apple eventually replaced iTunes with Files!)

To install the files, launch iTunes and connect your iPhone or iPad.

What comes next seems utterly non-intuitive to me. I had to stumble into it, frankly. There is a lot of odd clicking involved (on your computer, not the iOS device). Over the next several pages, the places where you click are highlighted in lavender.

When you first launch iTunes and plug in your device, you will see a screen something like the one below. On the right-hand side of the screen, once your device is connected and synced, is a button that will say "iPad" or "iPhone" or your iPad's name.



From the screen above, click on the on the iPad button to see the "Summary" of your iPad:

### The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

bert Waltz's iPad	▲ Summary Info (Apps) Tones Music Movies	TV Shows Podcasts Books Photos On This iPad	
	iPad		
	Robert Waltz's iPad         64GB         100%         Capacity: 57.02 GB         Serial Number:	iOS 7.1.2 Your iPad software is up to date. ITunes will automatically check for an update again on 7/7/14. Check for Update Restore iPad	
	Backups Automatically Back Up	Manually Back Up and Restore	
	<ul> <li>iCloud</li> <li>Back up the most important data on your iPad to iCloud.</li> </ul>	Manually back up your iPad to this computer or restore a backup stored on this computer.	
	<ul> <li>This computer         A full backup of your iPad will be stored on this computer.         Encrypt local backup         This will also back up account passwords used on this iPad.     </li> </ul>	Back Up Now         Restore Backup           Latest Backup:         Today 7:46 AM to this computer	
	Change Password		

From this screen, click the Apps panel. This shows you the apps on your iPad:

t Waltz's iPad ≜ Summary Info	Apps	Tones ML	isic M	ovies	TV	Shows	P	odcast	6 E	Books	Phot	os	On This iPad	
Apps														68 app
Sort by Name	Q		-			-	•							
AccuWeather - Weather f Weather	86.6 MB	Remove	Home	Scree	ens				_					+
Affinity Plus Federal Credi Finance	4.4 MB (	Remove	0 .23 (7)											
Arrow Note (Text Editor Productivity	15.8 MB	Remove	2	2	0	•		•	0	0	•			
articheck Productivity	2.5 MB	Install		P	age 1			0	•	Page 2	2			
Δτε Language	6.7 MB	Remove	Produ	uctivity	1									+
BBC News	4.7 MB (	Remove		1						•	•			
Bible Reference	16.7 MB	Install			<ul><li><b>₽</b></li></ul>	0	9		•		0	2		
Bible! Reference	78.1 MB	Remove		P	age 1			1		Page 2	2			
Bible+	87.1 MB	Remove	Book	s										+

The list you see on the left will vary, since it depends on the apps you have. It doesn't matter; you won't do anything with this list. Scroll down (using the scroll bar on the right) until you find the File Sharing pane:

art Waltz's iPad ≜	Summary	Info	Anne	Topor	Mueio	Movies	TV Shows	Podoasta	Books	Photos	On This iPad	
File Chering	Summary	IIIO	Apps	Tories	MUSIC	WOVIES	TA SHOWS	Foucasts	DOOKS	Filotos	On This read	
The appe listed by	low can tra	nefor o	locumon	te botw		iPad and	this compu	tor				
Apps	SIOW GAIT ITA		locumen	IS DELW	Serr your	FileMake	er Go Docu	ments				
Arrow Note					Â							
Calc Lite												
Cheat Docs												
FileMaker G	io											
Guitar Char	ts											
Calc neu.Calc												
Nocs												
NOOK												
Numbers		-										

Once again there is a list of apps on the left, but this time, the list includes only those for which you can supply files. You'll notice the FileMakerGo icon selected. You should click on FileMaker Go to say that you wish to add FileMaker files. Then go to the bottom of the pane, where there is an Add... button:

ert Waltz's iPad 🛎 Summary Info Apps Tones	Music	Movies	TV Shows	Podcasts	Books	Photos	On This iPad	LI
Apps		FileMal	ker Go Doc	uments				
Arrow Note	Î	inbo:	ĸ				3/25/14 6:49 PM	zero KB
Calc XLS Free								
Cheat Docs								
Excel								
FileMaker Go								
Guitar Charts								
Calc *>								
Nocs								
<b>N</b> OOK								
Numbers	Ų						Add	Save to
				24 97 CB	Free			Sync

(You may or may not see the "Inbox" file. That seems to depend on the way iOS is set up.) Use the Add... button to upload the files you want, e.g.. "BalladIndex.fmp12," etc. Loading the files to your iPad will take a minute or so. If everything went correctly, and you chose to install all six files, the File Sharing screen should now look like this:

rt Waltz's iPad ≜ Summary Info Apps	Tones Music	Movies TV Shows	Podcasts	Books	Photos	On This iPad	
		BalladIndex.fmp12				Yesterday 4:39 PM	29.2 MB
Arrow Note		Bibliography.fmp12				5/22/14 7:22 AM	584 KB
-		BROADSIDEINDEX	fmp12			Yesterday 7:36 AM	107.4 MB
Calc XLS Free		inbox				3/25/14 6:49 PM	zero KB
FREE COLOTICO		RoudBiblio.fmp12				6/20/14 11:07 AM	4.3 MB
$\overline{\Omega}$		SONGINDEX.fmp12	1			6/28/14 7:35 AM	179.4 MB
Cheat Docs		SuppTrad.fmp12				7/1/14 4:39 PM	1.6 MB
FileMaker Go							
Guitar Charts							
Calc ex-++							
Nocs							
NOOK							
Numbers	v	5				Add	Save to

(There may be other databases on the list as well, but the six listed above are the ones belonging to the Ballad Index.) Click the "Done" button to finish. You have installed the Ballad Index on your iPad, and may unmount the tablet or set it up for other tasks.

### Running the Index on the iPad

You're now ready to run FileMaker Go on your iPad:



Once you start FileMaker Go, it will show that it has the files "BalladIndex," "SuppTrad," "SONGINDEX," "BROADSIDES," "Bibliography," and "RoudBiblio" installed (again, you may have others, but the six listed below are those which belong with the Ballad Index):

#### The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

●●○○○ AT&T 🐨	6:28 PM	* 99% 💴 +
<u>?</u>	FileMaker Go	ع
Files on Device	Remote Files and Hosts	EQ 2+
FileMaker	Favorite Hosts	
BalladIndex 29.2 MB Jul 2, 2014, 4:39 PM	Recent Files	
Bibliography 584.0 KB May 22, 2014, 7:22 AM		
BROADSIDEINDEX 107.3 MB Jul 2, 2014, 7:36 AM		
RoudBiblio 4.2 MB Jun 20, 2014, 11:07 AM		
SONGINDEX 179.4 MB Jun 28, 2014, 7:35 AM		
SuppTrad 1.6 MB Jul 1, 2014, 4:39 PM		

Tap "BalladIndex" to start the Ballad Index. You should never tap on the other files; they are data files, and the Index won't work as well if you launch them first.

Remember to log in as Guest when asked to sign in:
The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual



Note that the Ballad Index will display several screens flashing on and off as it initializes parts of the Index. Don't worry about this unless it gives you an error message.

# Running the Index on the iPhone

When you launch the Ballad Index on the iPhone, you get a special startup screen designed for small screens

:



If you choose "Large Screen Mode," you'll get a display essentially the same as that on iPad, PC, or Mac, but the text will be very small. If you want to see more text, and are willing to give up user control, you can tap "Small Screen Mode." This takes you directly to a search screen:

The Traditional Ballad Index Instruction Manual

Find by Field Help				
To search, type the (first letters of) words into the appropriate field(s). Press ENTER when done.				
Ballad Name				
Description				
٩				
Keywords				
Q				
Boud #				
Q				
Abort Find/Help Search				

This only allows you to search four fields: Ballad name, description, keywords, or Roud number. Tap in one of the four boxes and type your search criteria, then press "Search." Suppose you search for "Johnson." You will see a list of songs, and can use the "Details" or "Show Song Details" button to see the song itself.

To see a song entry, select (tap) it, then tap the "Song Details button. Help	Billy Johnson's Ball
then tap the "Song Details button."HelpDetailsBillie Johnson of Lundy's Lane (version ofDetailsBilly Johnson's BallDetailsDixon and Johnson (version of The ThreeDetailsDown at Widow Johnson'sDetailsDown at Widow Johnson'sDetailsGeneral Scott and Corporal JohnsonDetailsJohnnie Johnson's Ta'en a Notion (versionDetailsJohnson (version of The Three ButchersDetailsJohnson BoysDetailsJohnson Boys (II)DetailsJohnson Had an Old Gray Mule (version ofDetailsJohnson's Ale (version of When Jones'sDetailsJohnson's Motor CarDetailsJohnson's Mule (version of The Old GrayDetailsJohnsons Had a Baby, TheDetailsJulie Ann Johnson	NAME: Billy Johnson's Ball DESCRIPTION: On his first wedding anniversary Johnson throws a party to celebrate it (and the arrival of a baby six months earlier). Johnson dances with all the girls; Mrs. Johnson gets jealous; the singer can't tell how it ended; he woke next morning under the table LONG_DESCRIPTION: On his first wedding anniversary Billy Johnson throws a party to celebrate the occasion (and the arrival of a baby six months earlier). The baby is introduced, Mrs. Johnson faints, someone gives her a drop to drink, and the dancing begins. Families are introduced; the party moves to a pub; Johnson dances with all the girls, and Mrs. Johnson gets jealous; the singer can't tell you how it all ended, only that he woke the next morning underneath the table AUTHOR: unknown EARLIEST_DATE: 1952 (recorded fromPeter Reilly by Kennedy) KEYWORDS: jealousy pride marriage dancing drink party baby family wife humorous FOUND_IN: Ireland REFERENCES (1 citation): Kennedy 266, "Billy Johnson's Ball" (1 text, 1 tune) Roud #2139 [11 Roud entries] NOTES: [29 words] Kennedy, in his usual inexplicable way, compares this to Percy French's "Phil the Flut(h)er's Ball." The only connection I can see is that they're both about Irish parties. - RBW File: K266 ====
Details July Ann Johnson (version of Julie Ann   Show Song Details Find Songs	Song Show Help Find Songs
Tind oonga	List Roud Roud

### Installing the Traditional Ballad Index on the Macintosh

The system requirements for the Macintosh Ballad Index are as follows: An Intel Macintosh running OS X 10.6.8 or higher. OS X 10.7, OS X 10.8, and OS X 10.9 are supported.

To run the Ballad Index on your Macintosh, you need to download the Macintosh Ballad Index file from the Fresno web site (or some other source). The file is called MacBalladIndex.zip, and is a standard ZIP file. Download the file, move it to wherever you would like to install the Index, and double-click on the file. It will create a folder called "BalladIndex" and install the required files in that folder. Once that is done, you can throw away MacBalladIndex.zip.

The resulting folder should have contents something like this:



#### Running the Index on the Macintosh

To launch the Index, simply double-click on the file "BalladIndex.app."

#### Installing the Traditional Ballad Index on Windows Computers

The system requirements for the PC Ballad Index are as follows: 32-bit or 64-bit processor running Windows 7.0 or higher.

To run the Ballad Index on your PC, you need to download the Ballad Index file from the Fresno web site (or some other source). The file is called PCBalladIndex.zip, and is a standard ZIP file. Download the file, move it to wherever you would like to install the Index, and double-click on the file. It will create a folder called "BalladIndex" and install the required files in that folder. Once that is done, you can throw away PCBalladIndex.zip.

The resulting folder should have contents something like this:

File Edit View Tools Help			
Organize 🔻 Include in library 🔻	Share with 🔻 🛛 Burn	New folder	
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
\mu Extensions	3/21/2013 8:19 AM	File folder	
Microsoft.VC90.CRT	3/21/2013 8:19 AM	File folder	
Microsoft.VC90.MFC	3/21/2013 8:19 AM	File folder	
Microsoft.VC90.MFCLOC	3/21/2013 8:19 AM	File folder	
3ASL2	3/21/2013 8:19 AM	File folder	
la Themes	3/21/2013 8:19 AM	File folder	
3 XTPTrans	3/21/2013 8:20 AM	File folder	
🔯 BalladIndex	10/9/2012 3:34 PM	Application	11,842 KB
BalladIndex.fmpur	3/21/2013 8:20 AM	FMPUR File	39,364 KB
OBEngine.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	6,010 KB
🚳 FMEngine.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	4,391 KB
S FMOLE.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	102 KB
🔁 FMP Acknowledgements	10/9/2012 1:51 PM	Adobe Acrobat D	92 KB
FMRSRC.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	9,538 KB
FMWrapper.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	116 KB
🚳 libcurl.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	201 KB
🚳 libeay32.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	1,114 KB
🚳 libetpan.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	480 KB
🚳 libsasl.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	198 KB
MFCX.dll	10/9/2012 3:33 PM	Application extens	107 KB
NSViews.dll	10/9/2012 3:34 PM	Application extens	51 KB
OmniDynamic4.dll	10/9/2012 3:34 PM	Application extens	1,451 KB
OmniORB4.dll	10/9/2012 3:34 PM	Application extens	1,202 KB
OmpiThroad dll	10/0/2012 2-24 DM	Application extens	20 10

# Running the Index on the PC

To launch the Index, simply double-click on the file "BalladIndex" ("BalladIndex.exe").

# **Accessibility Issues**

FileMaker Pro, the software used to build the Ballad Index, is designed with accessibility in mind, and we have tried to support this by producing an interface driven primarily by buttons, and by putting tips on as many parts of the interface as possible.

Unfortunately, we do not have the equipment to test the accessibility features "in-house," and the FileMaker documentation is not much help. We have been told that the result is not very useful. You have our sincere apologies, but since this software is free, there isn't much we can do to improve things. Proper installation may help a little. You can find out more about how to set up FileMaker databases for accessibility at

http://help.filemaker.com/app/answers/detail/a\_id/6196/~/accessibility-of-filemaker-products

If you use the Index with the JAWS screen-reading technology, you will need to download a small JAWS patch and configure it. The page with instructions for this is at

http://help.filemaker.com/app/answers/detail/a\_id/10897

# **Appendix: Known Bugs**

- The "Print" button on the "Find by Field" page prints only the first page of the selected record. As a workaround, you can copy the entire record and paste it into a word processor.
- The "Copy" button will only copy a text selection, but will show as active even when no text is selected.
- There is a problem in running the Index in FileMaker Go 18 on both the iPhone and iPad. This isn't something we can fix; it is a known bug in FileMaker Go 18. You can either use FileMaker Go 17 or wait for FileMaker Go 19, which we would expect would cure the problem.
- On the iPad and iPhone, there is a quirk involved in exact text searching (that is, searching for text in quotes). The iOS keyboard insists on converting straight quotes (') into curled quotes/apostrophes ('), but when you search for "a text with with 'some' apostrophes," it won't find the correct text. This is a bug in FileMaker Go; the only cure is to correct the curled apostrophes ' to straight apostrophes ' -- or not to search for text in quotes, because there is no problem unless you enclose your text in quotes.

To report a bug, contact the Ballad Index editor, waltzmn@yahoo.com.